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FOREWORD

This report, although authored primarily by one person, represents the
collective views of AIMR members: financial analysts, portfolio managers,
and other investment professionals. The views of individuals, including those
of the author, may differ from the consensus. But that is 1o be expected. As
the report itself makes clear, AIMR members are professionals. As such, they
are expected to think for themselves and 1o draw conclusions on less than
complete data. In such circumstances, it is impossible that they would all
agree. However, we on the Financial Accounting Policy Committee (FAPC)
believe that there are fewer differences among analysts than the charge to the
Committee appears 1o anticipate.

Earlier versions of this publication were circulated for comment to AIMR s
constiluent societies and to other interested members of the financial
community both in the United States and internationally. We received many
comments. Those from AIMR societies were considered carefully by the
FAPC and incorporated in the final revision as appropriate. Those from others
were useful in encouraging us to explain better matters on which there appeared
to be misunderstanding or confusion. We also updated certain sections to
recognize subsequent events, including the appointment of a practicing
financial analyst and CFA 10 the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

As the principal author of this report, I would like to thank my fellow FAPC
members for their support and encouragement throughout the project. The
members of the Commitiee are listed in Appendix C (see page 98). Special
thanks are due to Patricia A. McConnell of Bear Steamns & Co., Inc.; Gerald
1. White, CFA, of Grace & White, Inc.: and Peter C. Lincoln of the United
States Steel and Carnegie Pension Fund. These three individuals served as
members of the FAPC subcommitlee that oversaw this project and their advice
and suggestions were invaluable. Additional thanks £o to Raymond J.
DeAngelo, former Direcior of Advocacy for AIMR and now Vice President
of Communications and Services, for his thorough reading and constructive
comments on each successive draft and to AIMR staff member Rosalje Poss
for promptly and accurately responding to ail of my several requests for
assistance.

Other FAPC members who provided valuable comments and advice on
carlier drafts are: Anthony T. Cope, CFA, Wellington Management Company
(now with the Financial Accounting Standards Board); Donald H. Kom, CFA,
DHK Associates, Inc.; Sharon M. McGarvey, Metropolitan Life Insurance
Company; James M. Meyer, CFA, Janney Montgomery Scoit, Inc.; Robert L.

Renck, Jr., R.L. Renck & Company, Inc.; Douglas Sherlock, CFA, Shglock
Company; Paul Sloate, Sloate, Weisman, Murray & CPmp@y; A.rth\_wnpaul
C. Sondhi, Columbia University and New York University; William M
Siellenwerf, Fitch Investor Service, Inc.; and Frances G. Stone, CFA, Mermill,
mpany. _
Lygti::afl‘y?(lj ar[:I jgined by all the members of l]:l(.'. FAPC ip .exprf:s?n:lg our
appreciation to Mildred M. Hermann, who provided the Pngmal inspiration
and vision lo undertake this project. Ms. Hermann, now rt?ured. was associated
with the FAPC in her position as Vice President and Policy Coordmmm_', first
for the Financial Analysts Federation and later for AIMR. The compleuon) of
this report is something in which we believe she can take a great deal of pride.

Peter H. Knutson ' .
Member, Financial Accounting Policy Committee

Associate Professor of Accounting
The Wharton School

University of Pennsylvania
November 1993



CHARGE TO THE COMMITTEE

The Fmancifxl Accounting Policy Committee is to prepare a report that
Ezare;:zs \t:l}f v;;ar:vas of ;\IMR members on_ﬁnancial reporting. It should state
oy nd » y ncial reports are used in the analytic process. It should

¥ indicate what disclosures are essential to analysis, not only their format
and content, but also the frequency with which they are reported and the m \
by which they are disseminated. The Committee should define the se e,
but co.mplen]enmry. roles of financial analysis and financial reportin P
. In its de}:beraliqns. the Committee shouid look 1o the fun[:re. lg;'should
mp"ﬂtr:g:'mte y consider the implications of, among others, the following
ﬁnThe. r]apld globaltlzauon f)f t?apilal markets and the concomitant impact on
ancial reports, standard setting, and securities market regulation
T}]e increasing use of electronic means to assemble and examim‘e financial
data in quantities previously unaccessible. e
Th.e appropriateness of cost-based, industrial-oriented financial re orts fi
growing numbers of financial and other service organizations ’ "
AItht)L!gh‘lhe Committee shouid look primarily to the fulu1:e it should
lose conunu‘lly.with the past. Its deliberations should be exten;ions of th:so l
groups.and md!viduals who produced previous Financial Accountin Police
Committee position papers, and it should draw on their collective wisgdom ’
The final report of the Committee should take positions and m:;k
recommenc!mions on which analysts can agree. In controversial magters wh .
agreement is not apparent, the Commitiee should present its views to etlt:re
with fall.‘ representation of the alternatives. With respect to certain emegr i El‘
and cutting-edge issues, the Committee’s contributions wil] be (1) to ideftiltl‘ﬁ

viil

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

“Forces now at work are likely to have an impact on the nature and extent
of financial reporting in this decade and beyond.” Those words were used
during the February 3, 1992, meeting of the AIMR Board of Govemors that
authorized the preparation of the this report.

It was written to promulgate and disseminate AIMR viewpoinis on
substantially all matters relating to the interrelationship between financial
analysis and financial reporting and disclosure. This summary conveys only
the most essential topics and points made therein, and the Financial Accounting
Policy Commitiee {FAPC) commends the full report to all readers.

Financial Analysis and Financial Repotting

This section provides primarily descriptive information. It discusses the
interrelationship between the efficient market hypothesis and other theories of
financial economics and the role of financial analysis in making markets
efficient. It presents a description of the analytic process to the exient that
generalizations can be made in that area, It [lists and describes the vast variety
of information sources used by analysts, of which financial reports are an
indispensable part of the whole. It then describes in more detail each of the
financial reports analysts rely on in their work.

One of the most important functions of this section is to define the distinction
between financial analysis and financial reporting. The committee believes
that financial reporting should be concerned with presenting the economic
history of specific economic entities and that it is best done when managements
also are willing 1o disclose and discuss their strategies, proposed tactics and
plans, and expected outcomes. Forecasis of the future and similar material
enhance financial report usefulness, but these must be separated from and not
confused with the financial statements themselves. The function of analysis
is to allow those who participate in the financial markets to form their own
rational expectations about future economic events, in particular the amounts,
timing, and uncertainty of an enterprise’s future cash flows. Through that
process, analysts form opinions about the absolute and relative value of
individual companies, make investment decisions or cause them to be made,
and thereby contribute to the economically-efficient allocation of capital and

clearing of the capital markets.

Association for Invesiment Management and Rescarch
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The Changing World and its Implications for Analysis

The world constantly is changing, and everyone must adjust to
accommodate those forces over which they have no conirol. The nature and
implications of three major phenomena that are expected to affect financial
analysis and analysts are considered here. Those matiers also have
considerable influence on the views and conclusions expressed later in this
report.

First, globalization of the capital markets and the spread of free enterprise
throughout the world have enormous implications for analysts. Capital flows
freely across many national borders, The need for information to compare
investment opportunities of disparate character is greater than ever. Thus, an
increasing amount of attention has been given 1o the activities of the
Intermational Accounting Standards Committee and the International
Organization of Securities Commissioners. We €Xpress our support for
continued advancement of their work, but we also €Xpress concem over the
possible lowering of standards of accounting, disclosure, reporting frequency,
and atlestation. In sum, because rapid intemationalization serves the interests
of financial analysts, we support it—but only if it is done s0 as to raise the level
of information intemationally without lowering it domestically.

Second, the accessibility of computing power continues to rise as rapidly as
its cost falls, which has several implications for financial analysis,
Quantitative analysis becomes practicable to an extent never dreamed of
previously. There are more and ever-increasing demands for and uses of data
bases of financial information. We look forward to the general availability of
the SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering And Retrieval system. All this means
that financial analysis will require more emphasis than ever before on
recognition and measurement in financial reports so that we may be assured
that the contents of data bases are both complete and comparable.

Third, the accounting model used today was developed to fit enlerprises
whese economic activity is primarily in manufacturing or merchandising.
Today, services of all types constitule a major portion of economic endeavors.
Financial assets play a larger role as more funds are saved and invested than
ever before. The current accounting model has been challenged on many
fronts. Our conclusion is that although we consider it fundamentally sound,
there are nevertheless many ways in which it could be employed more
efficaciously than it is today. Much of the remainder of this report is devoted
to describing our suggestions for improvement.

_ Executive Summary 3

Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Statements

The qualitative characteristics of accounting l.hat. we find most.imp(.n_'tam to
the needs of financial analysts are relevance, rellabllu_y (bol.h verifiability and
represeniational faithfulness), timeliness, and neutrality. First, analysts nee.d
to know economic reality—what is really going on—l_o the greatest extent it
can be depicted by accounting numbers. The informa!lon must be releva;‘mh 1.0
the process of analysis, one reason why much space in the early part of this
report is devoted to describing the analyst’s work. . . 1

Some attention is paid in this section to the need for umcl_y reporting. It
introduces the view of AIMR that mandated quarterly reporting nqt only is
essential, but also that moves to abolish it appear 1o be based on incorrect
premises; in other words, it is inappropriate to blame quarterly reporunﬁ
requirements for “short-termism” when the blame can betier be place

elsewhere.

Broad Topics of Current Importance to Analysts

The largest part of the report is devoted to the broad subjects that _follow,
and each of them is discussed in considerable depth. The.bnef summaries tlere
indicate only the scope of that coverage and list the major recommendations

that result.

Mark-to-Market Accounting. Value versus Valuation. Any ilrnn?inen;‘
change 1o mark-to-market accounting is not welcomcfl by. the .majonly od
financiai analysts. Many would not be happy 10 see hlslonc'cosls remove
from the financial statements, and these analysts are not conv.mc?d lhifl llllt?re
would be an increase in relevance sufficient to offset the reduction in reliability
of the new data. Others disagree and are anxious to see and use market va[ues
in their work. In fact, the spectrum of opinion among analysl',? on the subject
is so broad that it cannot be represented succinctly h‘.:rt.::. additional study of
the issues by a subcommittee of the FAPC has been lmu.ated. Funhermo;*e,
analyst opinion varies depending on the extent to which rr}arl.c-to-mar t:[
accounting would apply. Some would approve of it for ﬁna_ncml Instruments
or some financial instruments but not for tangible or other mtan_glb.lc ns§f.:|s:
There is agreement, at least within the FAPC, l‘hat marketable equity seTunfle?
should be reported at market and that the dlsclom.;res of market values f'.il
financial instruments required by Financial Accounfmg Standard No. 107 wi
provide useful information without any corresponding loss of other data.
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Accounting for Intangible Assets. Contemporary accounting for
intangible assets has great potential for confusion. Purchased intangibles are
initially recorded at cost and amortized over periods of time that often are
arbitrarily determined. Self-developed intangibles are for the most pan not
recorded. Financial statement comparability between and among enlerprises
suffers accordingly. Our contemplation of this situation leads us to two major
recommendations that we believe will increase comparability. Both
recommendations are controversial and should be considered in the light of
the full discussion of them in this report.

First, we advocate capitalization of all executory contracts with an initial
duration of more than one year, We would include not only leases but also
cmployment agreements and similar contractual arrangements. QOur
recommendation does not advocate any change that would weaken the
standards goveming revenue recognition.

Second, we recommend that purchased goodwill be written off at the date
it is acquired. We believe that it is an important number, but only o depict a
value at a particular date—a value that undoubtedly is subject to rapid and
sizable potential change thereafter. We cannot see how its presence on the
balance sheet is of use in estimating a firm's future cash flows or gauging its
contemporaneous value. Therefore, we recommend banishing goodwiil from
an enterprise’s list of assets, but preserving a record of it by having it show as
a separate and distinct reduction of shareholders’ equity.

Financial Statement Dissemination. In recent years, mandated
quarterly reporting in the United States has come under increasing attack.
Many charges have been leveled, most recently that it leads 1o “shori-termism”
and that it causes the U.S. to lack competitiveness with the rest of the world
{where most reports are issued only semi-annually). We feel strongly that
these charges are wrong, and this section provides an exposition of the virtues
of quarterly reporting, refutation of the arguments against i1, and an initial
argument for disaggregated quarterly information.

Obviously, financial markets and financial analysis thrive on information,
Furthermore, information will eventually find its way to influence market
prices, whether the avenues it takes are legitimate or not. As investment
professionals who take pride in our ethical conducl, we need 10 have
information that is frequent, relinble, and relevant. We need 1o have it
disseminated even-handedly so that it becomes available to all market
participants at the same tirne, rather than first to the privileged few. We believe
the arguments against quarterly reporting are specious, and we give substantial
reasons 1o support that opinion.

Executive Summary 5

Disaggregated Financial Staternents.  Analysis of a complex economic
entity requires information about the workings of each of its components,
There is no disagreement among AIMR members that segment information is
totally vital to their work. There also is general agreement among them that
the current segment reporting standard, Financial Accounting Standard No.
14, is inadequate. Recemt work by a subcommittee of the FAPC has confirmed
that a substantial majority of analysts seek and, when it is available, use
quarterly segment data. .

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has in process a project
on disaggregation for which AIMR provided partial financial support in
addition to its overall endorsement. We do not wish to prejudge the results of
a project now in its initial stages, but we do suggest an avenue for the FASB
to explore. We believe that segment data are most useful when they depict the
way in which the enterprise itself is organized and managed, and we urge the
FASB 10 seek ways to promulgate a standard that produces such a result,
despite the several difficulties in doing so that we acknowledge and discuss in
this report.

Income and Cash Flow Statements. Throughout the report, there are
repeated recommendations that the FASB needs to develop its concept of
“comprehensive income.” Much of this section of the report is devoted to
integrating those references and explaining in much greater detail ail the
reasons why that development is needed-—and how the FASB should proceed.

The other part of this section deals with the cash flow statement. Most
AIMR members were pleased with the issuance of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 95, which requires that a cash flow statement replace the
less-useful statement of changes in financial position. Most are not pleased
with the guality of information contained in many of the cash flow statements
they currently receive. First, vinually no companies have chosen to present
cash flows from operations on the direct method. Failure to do so has been
accompanied by arguments that are unconvincing because they are
contradictory. Second, because so many cash flow stalements contain
detectable errors, we call for establishment of an authoritative literature on
cash flow statement preparation.

Transition to New Standards. Financial analysts support the issuance
of accounting standards that improve the quality and quantity of financial
information. The antithesis is that any new standard disrupts or destroys
time-series analysis by making future periods’ financial reports not
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comparable to those of the past. We have observed a trend towards
exacerbation of that situation in the transition methods permitted by the FASB
in several recent standards.

First, there are delayed final adoption dates, thus permitting extended
periods of noncomparability between the financial statements of early adopters
and those of companies that wait until the final date to adopt. Second, there
are choices of method—restatement, cumulative effect, or (worst of all)
delayed effect. In the case of Financial Accounting Standard No. 106, it will
be 20 years after the final adoption date before we begin 10 have total
comparability among enterprises. In the meantime, it will take an astute and
fortuitous reading of complex footnotes by the analyst to ferret out the truth.
In this section, we recommend single transition methods and short transition
periods,

The Standard-Setting Process. Several topics are covered in this
section. First is our assertion of support for the continued development of
globally acceptable accounting standards. That support is accompanied by a
discussion of the probiems that we expect will be encountered in the quest for
worldwide standards. Second, we express our support for the standard-setting
process in the Unilted States and for the FASB as an institution. We provide
refutation to many of the criticisms directed against it. We do not believe the
FASB is to blame for many of the complications in financial statements today,
nor do we believe that it has issued too many standards too quickly. We
disagree with those who say its standards are too theoretical, that the cost of
implementing them is too great, or that the FASB is inimical to the interests
of financial statement preparers. Rather than following due process too little,
we believe the FASB follows it too much. The reasons supporting these beliefs
are set forth in this report,

Finally, we emphasize the needs of financial statement users in the
standards-setting process. We argue that users of financial stalements are also
the owners of the enterprises being reported upon, and it is the users who, in
addition to receiving the benefits, ultimately bear the cost of providing
financial reports. We suggest that user viewpoints be incorporated in the
standard-setting process through their direct participation as members of the
FASB, in addition to the current practice of users providing writien comments
and oral testimony.

Executive Summary 7

Summary of Important Positions and Guide to Future Actions

Many recommendations are made throughout this report in the context of
individual topic discussions. Those singled out for special emphasis at the end
of the report are these:

1. Strive for globally acceptable accounting principies, including disclosure

standards.

2. Set financial information in its business context.

3. Continue 1o deliberate the role of current values in financial reports.

4. Recognize all executory contracts.

5. Devclop standards for reporting comprehensive income.

6. Provide frequent and detailed financial reports.

7. Consider cost/benefit analysis from a user viewpoint.

Conclusions

Throughout the report, we make many other recommendations and establish
positions on a variety of issues. Those matters are set forth for two purposes,
First, they announce to the rest of the world our thoughts on issues of mutual
importance to investment professionals and to other constituents in the world
of financial reporting. Second, they provide an opportunity for AIMR
members themselves to form their individual thoughts about the implications
of financial reporting and its potential effect on their work in the 1990s and
beyond.



PREFACE

The Association for Investment Management and Rescarch (AIMR) was
formed through a merger of the Institute of Chartered Financial Analysts,
founded in 1962, and the Financial Analysts Federation, founded in 1947. lts
mission is stated in its name—io advance the art and science of investment
management and research. This is accomplished through programs and other
activitics that include the CFA candidate program, advocacy, continuing
cducation, ethics and professional standards, and public awareness. AIMR
also recognizes through awards distinguished service and accomplishments by
individual investmeni professionals.

AIMR Membership

AIMR members arc investment management professionals. Membership
includes securities analysts, portfolio managers, sirategists, consultants, and
other investment specialists. Members practice in fields such as investment
counseling and management, banking, insurance, investment banking, and
brokerage. Of AIMR's more than 24,000 members, some 64 percent hold the
designation Chartered Financial Analyst in recognition of passing three
sequential CFA examinations. Roughly 70 percent of AIMR members hold
degrees beyond the baccalaurcate; 86 percent are located in the United States,
with 10 percent living in Canada and the remainder in other couniries.

Investment management professionals often are categorized by activity into
what are called “buy-side” analysts and “sell-side™ analysts. The latter are
likely 1o be employed in the research departments of invesiment banking and
brokerage firms. Their reports tend to focds on individual companies; in larger
firms, they specialize by industry, The work of buy-side analysts is less often
scen because it is usually produced for confidential use by the analyst’s
employer, more often than not a portfolio manager or investment counselor.

In addition to being employed in the broadly defined securities industry,
AIMR members also engage in an impressive range of other employments.
There are many analysts employed by business and consulting firms that are
engaged in competitive analysis, the appraisal of competitors within their
industry, and analysis of potential acquisitions. There are analyst specialists,
such as those who concentrate on accounting issues or other technical support
areas within a financial firm’s research department. A small number of AIMR
members are academics.

Preface 9

A recent survey by AIMR’s Financial Accounting Policy Commitiee
{FAPC) showed that virtually all of these investment professionals use
financial reports in their work either directly or indirectly. Several of them
utilize financial information accumulated in and accessed through data bases.
At the other extreme, many of them read volumes of financial statements in
complete detail. Others fall in between and may combine using data bases
with reading financial reports in detail on a selective basis.

Advocacy by AIMR

The function of advocacy has as its poal to support fair treatment for
investors and 1o encourage high ethical and professional standards in the
investment industry. 1t encompasses such diverse, but not unrelated, 1opics as
bondholder rights, govemment relations, performance presentation standards,
and proxy voling rights. Many of AIMR’s advocacy efforts are expended in
the realm of financial reporting and corporate information. The AIMR
Caorporate Information Commitice each year publishes a report that evaluates
the quality of corporate financial reporting in selecled industries and makes
awards for excellence.

The FAPC maintains contact with both private and public sector accounting
groups that establish accounting standards to ensure that the needs of invesiors
are communicated and included as standards are promulgated. (A list of
written comments for the past six years, 1988-93, by the FAPC to various
standard-setting and regulatory bodies is included in this repont as Appendix
A.) In addition to writien comments, FAPC members also provide testimony
to the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) as appropriate; the
FAPC as a whole meets with the FASB annually and from time to time with
SEC officials. The Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council usually
includes one FAPC member. The current FAPC chairman is a member of the
Board of the International Accounting Standards Commitiee, and an FAPC
member was recently appointed to the FASB.

Purpose and Content of This Report

From time to lime, the FAPC has issued broad position papers on accounting
and financial reporting. The first of these papers, dated March 30, 1972, was
addressed to the American Instituie of Certificd Public Accountants (AICPA)
Accounting Objectives Study Group, known informally as the Trueblood
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Commission. Subsequent papers—dated September 15, 1974; July 22, 1977,
March 14, 1978; and March 31, 1978—were addressed to the FASB as it was
formulating and setting in motion its conceptual framework project. The
current report continues the tradition of occasional position papers by the
FAPC. As such, il presents the views ol the largest and most importamt
organized group of financial statement users in our economy and in the world.
An earlier version received wide circulation and comment from AIMR
member societics and others, Those comments have been incorporated in this
report.

It also 1s important from time to time for the FAPC to take positions that are
proactive. Much of its work (see Appendix A) consists of responding to
initiatives of various groups including accounting standard-setting bodies, the
FASB and the IASC; capital markets regulators such as the SEC and its Office
of the Chief Accountant; organizations representing financial statement
preparers, such as the Financial Executives’ Institute {FEl) and others; and
auditors, such as the AICPA, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants,
and similar organizations in other countrics. For the FAPC to be more
consistent and productive in its written and oral communications with those
groups, it needs to consider its own positions on current and impending issues
relating to financial reporting. Even more important, it must ponder the
implications of recent and anticipated changes in the environment in which the
securities industry does business.

Since the 1970, there have been many changes in the financial world and
in financial reporting. The FASB has evolved from an institution in its
formative stages, defining iself and its agenda, to a mature organization that
receives criticism as well as praise for its work. Regulation of financial
reporting by the SEC and other governmental bodies has not remained
unaffected by the political currents and ideologies that govemn Washington and
Oulawa.  Additionally, the SEC is in the initial stages of instituting its
Electronic Data Gathering And Retrieval system, which will change many of
the basic rules of how financial data are disseminated. Financial markets have
become globalized to an extent not contemplated in the 1970s, with extensions
forthcoming as the political economics of eastern Europe transform
themselves.

The world is a far different place than it was only a few years ago, and it
has evolved in ways that only a visionary could have predicted. Thus, it is
hazardous 1o conjecture now about what the future will bring. But the business
of financial analysis and securitics analysts is to form rational expectations
about future events. So it is with some experience in pondering the future that
AIMR’s FAPC tums its attention in this report (o financial reporting issues
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that it believes are and will be significant during the 1990s and beyond.

Reasons for Reporting At This Time

In recent months, both the AICPA and the FEI—the groups representing,
respectively, the main bodies of auditors and preparers of financial
statements—have begun work on major projects 1o study financial reporting.
In 1991, the Financial Accounting Foundation, the parent and sponsor of the
FASB, formed an oversight committee of its board of directors 1o evaluate the
operations and product of the FASB. Thus, in the financial reporting milien,
the standard-setting body, preparers of financial statements, and auditors all
are in the process of presenting their views to the world. AIMR, as the primary
organization representing financial stalement users, needs to be heard at least
as clearly and resoundingly as other groups involved with financial reporting.

In the past, FAPC position papers have been addressed to groups responsible
in some way for establishing accounting standards. This report seeks a broader
audience. Its primary purpose is to influence the opinions and actions of (1)
the managements of the companies that prepare and issue financial reports, (2)
the accounting standard setters and securities markets regulators who set the
parameters within which those reports must fall, and (3) the independent
auditors who attest to the faimess of those reports. The overriding message to
each of those groups is that the purpose of external financial reporting is 10
serve the needs of those who use it.

This report also is one of the initial major policy initiatives since the
formation of AIMR. Previous works of its predecessor bodies represented the
views of their separate constiluencies. Now, we have the opportunity to
produce what we hope is the first of a series of policy statements and reports
that will present the collective views all AIMR members, securities analysts,
and other investment professionals.



FINANCIAL ANALYSIS AND FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Nature and Role of Efficient Markets

During the past 25 years or 50, & great lilerature has been created that
supports the hypothesis that financial markets are, to one degree or another,
efficient. How efficient is a matter of debate among both practitioners and
academics even today. In its most basic form, the efficient market hypothesis
(EMH) states that information is quickly impounded in stock prices. The
implications are that one cannot profit by having access to information that
also is available to others. The evidence supporting the EMH is voluminous
in the literatures of economics, finance, and accounting. There also is abundant
literature that points out anomalies in the EMH. The degree to which market
efficiency actually exists is a matter that will continue to be debated for some
time to come.

What we all may agree upon is that information does affect stock prices
eventually. The corollary is that markets could not possibly be efficient if
information were not available. 1n addition, those who either lack information
or who do not understand the information that is available to all are at a distinct
disadvantage in buying or selling securities. Therefore, no matter how
efficient or inefficient a financial market may be, information is its lifeblood.

Financial information comes from many sources and in many forms. Much
of it is received by financial analysts prior to the issuance of financial reports.
The news wires are filled with items giving information about major events
affecting various companies: new contracts, new financing, legal actions,
product introductions, patent grants, capital spending plans, personnel
changes, and the like. Companies send out press releases, hold analyst
meetings, and otherwise see that news affecting them is presenied in the most
favorable light. Much of the information that moves the market is qualitative
in nature and requires subsequent verification. 1t is used by analysts 1o form
estimates of future eamings and cash flows and to draw conclusions about
whether a particular company’s securities should be bought, held, or sold.

Financial stalements and other formal financial reports are usually produced
some time after the fact. They provide analysis the assurance that their initial
inlerpretalions of company news were sensible and to some degree accurale.
Sometimes it is asserted that financial statements do not contain new
information. Analysts hope that assertion is true. 1f it is, that means that both
the companies and the analysts who follow them have done their jobs
successfully in making the market as efficient as can be. When a financial
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statement conlains a *‘surprise” or two that causes a market price to change,
one usually may conclude either that the analyst lacked perspicacity or that the
company engaged in duplicity.

Although a financial report may not contain 'news,” that does not mean that
it does not contain information. Later in this report, we point out the many
witys in which such reports provide not only a record of the past, but also clues
to the {uture and a myriad of detailed data not available elsewhere. The
overriding mission of this report is to discuss in detail exactly how that
information should be presented so as to be of optimal use to financial analysts
and, in turn, the efficiency of capital markels.

Analysts Look for Anomalies Between Price and Value

The function of markets is to set prices and effect transactions. The function
of {inancial analysis is to assess values. If markets were truly efficient, price
would adjust quickly to value as information became available and its
implications were understood, Even in the mosl efficient of markets, however,
different people assess value differently. The dividend discount model (DDM)
valnation framework is often used lo estimate the worth of a security as the
present value of its future dividends plus its residual price discounted at a
risk-adjusted rate of retum. The capital asset pricing model provides an
analytical framework to relate expecied return and risk. But tolerance of risk
varies among individuals, as do estimates of the amounts, timing, and
uncertainty of future dividends. A market price is at the margin: Persons who
continue to hold securities believe them to be worth at least their market price
and to be appropriate 1o the portfolio.

Financial analysts look for market price anomalies, securities whose values
are perceived to be different from their current market prices—usually greater
but sometimes less. In doing so, analysts form projections of future earnings,
usually as a surrogate for estimating future cash flows. Major events in the
economic life of a company may cause analysts to reassess the company’s
future earnings and may in turn be reflected through significant changes in the
market price of the company’s securities. Analysts’ reporis are used by
securities firms to make buy, sell, or hold recommendations. Portfolio
managers and other investors actually make buy-sell-hold decisions. As
investors change their minds about the values of individual securities, they
change their portfolios accoerdingly. Thus, capital is allocated efficiently and
impersonally to its best use in the economy.

Financial analysts also participate in due diligence proceedings, advising
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deal makers and investors as to the economic values underlying proposed
transactions. Other analysts prepare valuation studies to assess competition
and competitors, Others are consultants on valuation. In sum, if markels are
clficient, they are made so by the work of financial analysts who continually
are seeking 1o find discrepancies between price and value and who advise on
pertfolio transactions accordingly. This moves market prices toward
price-value equilibrium.

Sources of Information

A common starting point in the analytic process is to assess the state of the
economy and the various industries within it. Information to do so comes from
a variety of sources.

Economic and Industry Reports. Economic reports and prognoses are
available both from the government and from private sources. Many financial
firms have their own in-house economic experts who provide continual
updating to the rest of the firm, its customers, and sometimes to outsiders.

Industry-specific data come {rom the government, trade associations, the
business press, and a variety of other sources. Often they are obtained
indirectly from companies within the industry, Analysts who follow a
particular industry usually participate in meetings, conventions, trade shows,
and other industry-wide events. They also must keep up to date on
technological advances and other industry changes.

Company-Specific Information.!  Financial reports are the beginning
and ending points in obtaining information about individual companies. Asa
starter, they provide an overview of the company’s business, its status, and its
performance for a series of years. 1t is difficuli 10 think of a better primer than
the combination of an annual report to shareholders (complete with the
chairman’s letier to shareholders, financial stalements, management's
discussion and analysis, and other descriptive material) and 2 Form 10-K (with
all of its detailed description of business, facilities, risks, contingencies, and
other mandated disclosures). Al the end of the information gathering process,
financial reports are used to corroborate the vast array of company-specific

'Fer a more detailed report on financial analyst sources of company-specific information,
particularly wn connection with analysts’ interface with the investor relations activities of
publicly owned fimms, see "Securities Analysis, Investment Managers, and Corporate Issuers
of Securities” (Washington, D.C.: National Investor Relations Institute, forthcoming),
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data assembled from the various sources described next.

Many of the data used by analysts come directly from companies
themselves. Sources include press releases and other announcements,
including preliminary earnings numbers. Information is received orally from
company executives, sometimes in analysts’ meetings, other times by
telephone or during analysts’ visits to the company's premises. Plant visits
and field trips allow analysts to compare the company’s written and oral
representations to the reality of its operating conditions and atmosphere. Many
companies entertain analysts, usually in groups, so that the companies may
present their stories in the most favorable circumstances. One of the tasks of
an analyst is to sort through all of the favorable information to discover and
weigh the facts that are most germane to assessing a company’s future
prospects,

The business press provides substantial amounts of information about
individual companies, much of which is now captured in data bases. In some
instances, a clipping service may be used to gather data on a particular
company. Almost every major industry and many subdivisions of them are
covered by specialized publications. These are “must reading” for industry
specialist analysts who use them to gather intelligence, not only about the state
of the industry, but also about the performance and status of the individual
firms it comprises.

Finally, a great deal of information about individual companies may be
obtained through government documents and filings. One example is the call
reports filed with the U.S. Comptroller of the Currency by banks. Another is
the filings by insurance companies, public utilities, and other regulated
companies with state and federal commissions. Individual company pension
plan filings with the United States Department of Labor are another example.
U.S. General Accounting Office studies, and public hearings conducted by
Congressional committees and regulatory agencies are other important sources
of information. Under some circumstances, shareholders holding as litle as 1
percent of a company’s shares may obtain copies of its federal income tax
returns, Since enactment of the Freedom of Information Act, more specific
company data have been available to the public. In a number of cases,
however, the incremental value of the available data may be less than the cost
of the effort necessary 1o obiain it.

Financlal Reports Used By Analysts

The use of financial reports will differ from analyst to analyst, depending
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on the purpose of the analysis and the analyst’s personal style. In fact, there
even is a minuscule number of analysts who assert that they do not use financial
reports in their work.” The depth of an analyst’s study of financial reports is
in inverse proportion to the number of companies he or she follows. To some
extent, that depth also is a function of the analyst’s interest in and
understanding of {inancial accounting and reporting standards and disclosures.

At the top of every analyst’s list is the annual report to shareholders. It is
the major reporting document, and every other financial report is in some
respect subsidiary or supplementary to it. That is one of the reasons AIMR
and its predecessor organizations have consistently opposed companics
issuing what is called a “summary annual report.” Financial analysts expect
the annual report to sharcholders to contain a complete set of financial
stalements. Even though, for such companies, a full set of audited financial
staternents must be included in the proxy stalement, it may not be received
routinely by a non-sharcholder analyst, Furthermore, the financial statements
contained in a “summary annual report” are incomplete and may well mislead
less sophisticated investors who are unaware of that fact.

The annual report on Form 10-K is regarded by most analysts as an essential
complement to the annual report. It contains several important types of
supplementary financial schedules. In addition, it provides detailed
descriptions of the business and contains a record, available nowhere else, of
other available documents incorporated by reference.

Other than the financial statements themselves, perhaps the most useful
single part of the annual report is the management discussion and analysis
(MD&A) mandated for inclusion by the SEC. lts information conient varies
from company to company, but it provides for all companies insights that are
not apparent from the financial statements alone. It discloses items that tend
to make year-to-year income numbers noncomparable. 1t provides narratives
to accompany the factual disclosures in financial stalement noies. 1t has been
less effective in giving management the opportunity to discuss the company’s
plans and prospects, information that is of utmost relevance to analysts.
Although the MD&A is less than perfect, we have detected progressive
improvements over time, many of which can be attributed to the efforts of the
SEC 10 enhance its quality.

Analysts are constantly updating their projections and need timely financial
reports to assess how well they and the companies they follow are doing.
Quarterly reports are vital to the analytic process, particularly the detailed

2 . . -
“These are more likely than not to be cases in which the analyst has delegated actual
financial report reading and analysis 1o one of more subordinates,

reports provided on SEC Form 10-Q, which include a mandated MD&A
section. Many analysts also find helpful the management representations
contained in the bricfer quarterly reports to shareholders. For reasons set forth
in detail later in this report, we oppose the movement in certdin quarters to
climinate or otherwise attenuate interim financial reporting.

Many companies publish and distribute on request additional financial and
statistical information beyond that contained in their annual reports. These
“fuct books™ or similar documents are used exiensively by analysts. The proxy
statement provides information aboul compensation of the company’s senior
management and the sharcholdings of directors and officers. Form 8-K gives
information on major current developments affecting the company. There also
are a variety of special financial reports that are peculiar to particular industries
andfor companies that analysts find useful in their work.

Distinguishing Financial Analysis from Financial Reporting

It is quite easy to make a conceptual distinction between financial reporting
and financial analysis. Although both result in expressions of worth or value,
their perspectives are diametrically opposed. Financial statements express net
worth as the surplus of total assets over total liabilities. Because assets and
liabilities are both the result of past transactions and events', so is the
accounting measure of net worth.  Financial analysis, on the other hand,
assesses, estimates, and gauges value solely in terms of expeclations of the
Surre. A standard concept of value is that embodied in the DDM, which
postulates the value of a security to be the present value of its expecied future
dividends plus its estimated residual price at some specified future date,
discounted at a risk-adjusted rate of return (opportunity cost of capital). Thus
financial analysts seek to prognosticate the amounts, timing, and risk attached
1o a firm’s future cash flows—either directly or through such surrogates as
earnings forecasts,

Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 1, “Objectives of
Financial Reporting by Business Enlerprises,” states in paragraph 37,

Stement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6 defines assets as ™. . . probable future
economic benefits obtained or comtrolled by a particular entity as the result of past trnsactions
or events™ (paragraph 25, emphasis added). “Liabilities are probable future sacrifices of
economic benefits ansing from present obligations of a particular entity 10 transfer assets or
provide services to othier entities in the (uture as a result of past trnsactions or evens”
{paragraph 35, emphasis added).
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Financial reporting should provide information to help present and
potential investors and creditors and other users in assessing the
amounts, timing and uncertainty of prospective cash receipts from
dividends or interest and the proceeds from the sale, redemption or
maturity of securities or loans. The prospects for those cash
receipts are affecied by the enterprise’s ability to generate enough
cash to meet its obligations when due and its other cash operating
needs, to reinvest in operations, and to pay cash dividends and may
also be affected by perceptions of investors and creditors generally
about that ability, which affect market prices of the enterprise’s
securities. Thus, financial reporting should provide information to
help investors, creditors, and others assess the amounts, timing, and
uncertainty of prospective cash flows to the related enterprise.

A footnote to paragraph 37 explains that the objective “neither requires nor
prohibits ‘cash flow information,” ‘current value information,” ‘management
forecast information,’” or any other specific information.” Statement of
Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, “Recognition and Measurement in
Financial Statements of Business Enterprises” (FAC 5) on page 5, limits
measurement in accounting to the financial statements themselves.

The question then arises regarding the proper relationships among (1)
financial statements, (2) notes to financial statements, supplementary
information, and other means of financial reporting, and (3) financtal analysis,
which according to FAC 5 falls outside of financial reporting. To what exient
should assessment of the amounts, liming, and uncertainty of an enterprise’s
future cash Mows fall into each of those three categories?

We believe thai financial reporting should be concerned with presenting the
economic history of specific economic entities and that it is best done when
managements also are willing to disclose and discuss their strategies, proposed
tactics and plans, and expected outcomes. It is self-evident that reporting on
the past always requires the use of estimates and other assessments of future
events: uncollectible receivables, depreciable lives, warranty repair costs, and
the like. Forecasts of the future and similar material enhances financial report
usefulness, but they must be separated from and not confused with the financial
statements themselves. Financial analysts avidly seek management’s
forecasts as part of the financial reporniing process, accompanying but not
incorporated in the financial statements.

Financial analysts, in turn, must digest all relevant economic information
that can affect an economic entity, including but not limited to its financial
reports. The function of analysis is 1o allow those who participate in the
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financial markets to form their own rational expectations about future
economic events, in particular the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of an
enterprise’s future cash flows. Through this process, analysts form opinions
about the absolute and relative value of individual companies, make
investment decisions or cause them to be made, and thereby contribute to the
economically efficient allocation of capital and clearing of the capital markets.
Allocation decisions are made primarily on the basis of comparisons.
Financial reporting and financial analysis cross paths because, ultimately,
economic value (wealth) is created by expectations of future inflows of
economic benefits, primarily in the form of or the equivalent of cash flows.
The amounts and timing of future cash flows are in most cases uncertain to
various degrees. It is the function of analysis 1o deal rationally with that
uncertainty. It is the function of financial reporting 1o provide data useful to
analysts making assessments of an enterprise’s future cash flows and its value
today. Such data include detailed and up-to-date information on the amounts
and timing of past cash flows, periodic wealth increases from operating
activities (profitability), economic status at regular past intervals, and an
abundance of supplementary data necessary to understand their content and
significance.

Some persons may confuse the roles of financial reporting and financial
analysis because of the function of forward-looking information, which is
essentially of two different types. First are amounts that we expect to see
reported in financial statements and subject to audit: receivables, payables, a
variety of financial instruments reporied at the present value of their future
cash flows. These are contractually determined amounis arising from past
exchanges that meet the definitions of assets or liabilities, even though their
value is properly determined by the amounts of related future exchanges. The
other type of forward-looking information comprises forecasts, projections,
and certain pro-forma presentations. These numbers are of greal importance
and usefulness to analysts, but they are not part of the economic history of the
firm and therefore not proper financial statement components. Nor are they
auditable, although the participation of an independent accountant in their
preparation could well enhance their credibility and “user-friendliness” as well
as provide some assurance that management's methodology was sound, its
assumptions reasonable, and its calculations accurate.

How Financial Reporting Can Serve Financial Analysis

The starting point in analysis of a specific company is to look at the record.



How has that management and company performed in the past, and what is its
status at present? Answers 1o those questions are found in the company’s
financial statements. Past performance is evaluated in terms of profutability
and liquidity, current status in terms of financial position. Financial statements
are valuable to the extent that they provide useful and comprehensive
information that allow financial analysts o evaluate how well management
has done with the resources at its command. Although the word “stewardship™
no longer is lashionable, it fits here. In fact, it continues to be a major reason
for the accounting profession to continue producing financial statements in
their traditional format.

The specific content of financial statements is discussed in more detail in
other sections of this report, but it is important here to state how essential it is
that financial reports be comprehensive. 1l we are to have financial statements
in the traditional form, they ought to include what they purport to contain. For
example, many so-called “off balance sheet” iterns should be on the balance
sheet. Another matter on which FAPC members are agreed is the urgent need
for the FASB to develop, in the form of financial accounting standards, the
notion of “comprehensive income™ that it introduced in Financial Accounting
Concepts Nos. 3 and 6. If done properly, such standards would bring back to
a structured income statement various items that now bypass income on their
way to the owners’ equity section of the balance sheet. The topic of
comprehensive income is discussed at greater length later in this report.

Analysts need financial statements structured so as to be consistent with
how the business is organized and managed. That means that two different
companies in the same industry may have to report segment data differently
because they are structured differently themselves. Perhaps one may be
organized by product line, the other by geographical area or by the types of
industries represented by its customers. There are even more possibilities of
organizational differences between and among companies in different
industries. Some mity be production oriented, others driven by markets or
research activity. We also are aware of the difficulty of setting accounting and
disclosure standards to meet our needs, and our more detailed topical
discussions later in this report incorporate that concemn.

Financial reports have to be understandable. Analysts are quite aware of
the technically demanding nature of certain accounting standards and we
sympathize with financial statement preparers and their auditors for the
additional work they must do. These standards were promulgated, however,
because they are intended to provide vital economic information to investors,
creditors, and other financial statement users, We worry that the purpose of a
standard can be thwarted by a grudging compliance with only its technical
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requirements. We look in financial reports for information—and often'ils
provision requires explanations that go beyond the minimum reporting
requirements contained in a standard or checklist.

The financial reporting process is most useful when it goes beyond the past
and present to include management’s views of its future strategies, plans, and
expectations. For example, management currently is required in the MD&A
section of its annual report to shareholders to report how the results of each of
the past three years differ one from another. The SEC strongly encourages but
does not require similar discussion of how management expects the results of
future years to differ from those of the past. Why have managemens been so
slow to respond to this urging? We have seen some improvement recently,
but the pace is glacial.

Financial reports also should provide assurance that the organization is
under control. At one extreme, this means that it conducts its affairs at least
lawfully and conforms to the ethical norms of the jurisdictions and cultures in
which it operates. In another sense, we seek assurance that the company is
being operated in the interests of its shareholders and creditors for its stated
purposes and with the goal of maximizing wealth in a responsible manner,
Analysts also need a depiction of what the enterprise is doing in the areas of
social and environmental impact as well as assurance that control systems 10
ensure compliance are in place and operative. We believe this is an area for
expanded disclosure.



THE CHANGING WORLD AND
ITS IMPLICATIONS FOR ANALYSIS

Globalization and the Spread of Free Entemprise

Recent decades have seen an astonishing disappearance of geographical
!Jamers both physical and psychological. Markets for products have become
intemational; no longer do we think of the United States alone when we speak
of market share in autorobiles, electronic equipment, compulers, and a variety
of other industrial and consumer goods.

‘Financial markets have not escaped this phenomenon. Large companies
raise money throughout the world, in forms and locations that offer the most
.favorable terms, Investors follow suit by making capital available for equity
investing around the globe.

Globalization of the capital markets will likely continue until such time as
?.lmosl all barriers have disappeared. During 1993, the European Community
is scheduled to spring into full-blown being. Intra-European economic barriers
between individual members of the community are going down rapidly,
although not without certain difficulties, and other non-member European
countries are waiting to be admitted. Even Switzerland, that bastion of
autonomous independence, appears ready to join. The collapse of
communistic socialism in Eastern Europe has implications not only for those
countries but also for certain other countries that emulated them.

All of this change and its projected continuance have dramatic implications
for financial analysis, many of which go beyond the limited scope of this report.
The-y are caused by differences in languages and cultures, laws and ethics,
business practices, and financial institutions and instruments. With respect to
financial reporting alone, there are a myriad of problems to consider. These
encompass analysts’ needs for internationally acceptable standards of financial
reporting—including common accounting methods, adequate detailed

disFlosure. sufficient frequency of reporting, and credible auditing or other
reliability enhancement.

Common Accounting Methods. The International Accounting
Standards Commitiee (IASC) has done an admirable job with meager
resources in bringing together accounting and standards-setting bodies from
around the world to deal with the accounting standards problem. It has had
two major accomplishments to date. First, it has codified accounting practice
around the world {deeming idiosyncratic methods unacceptable and allowing
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1o stand alternative methods that were followed in sizable portions of the
world). Its second accomplishment is its “Improvements Project” to eliminate
many remaining alternatives in practice while at the same time initiating new
projects {such as joint venture accounting and financial instruments) on which
few national standards currently exist.

We applaud the [IASC for its productivity. But we also must look carefully
at factors that may impair its ongoing effectiveness. First, it now is entering
politically precarious territory and is without the power of an SEC to back it
up. Although its work is supported by the International Organization of
Securities Commissions (I0SCO), its authority is limited, as is that of the TIASC
ilself, to the willingness of sovereign governments to be persuaded to adopt its
views. Second, the politics of international standard seiting may be
exacerbated because the IASC is composed primarily of representatives of
national professional accounting bodies, such as the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) in the United States, rather than being
an amalgamation of national standard-setting bodies. Third, in the United
States and Canada, it is the Financial Accounting Standards Board {(FASB)and
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, respectively, that are
designated to determine accounting standards. Under the FASB's rules of due
process, it is almost impossible for it to participate directly in international
standards setting, but it has reorganized its internal procedures to take account
of international developments and sends an observer to all meetings of the
IASC board.

Adequate Detalled Disclosure. This is an adjunct to the problem of
common accounting standards. It raises the question of the extent to which an
enterprise’s securities can be issued and traded in a foreign country while
adhering only to the disclosure standards of its home country. This is a current
issue involving movement on the part of the SEC and its counterparis in the
United Kingdom and Canada to allow filings that meet their home-country
requirements also to be acceptable in the other two countries. An experiment
in certain Canadian offerings is in effect now, Given that the U.K. is amember
of the European Community (EC), this may be considered by some as a first
step on the way to accepting in North America security of! ferings that meet the
diverse disclosure requirements of all the various EC countries.

We believe that, at a minimum, 1ASC accounting standards (IASC GAAP)
should be adhered to by foreign companies registering securities in the United
States. But we are unable to answer the resultant question of whether U.S.
companies should be allowed also to follow IASC GAAP rather than FASB
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GAAP when they register their securities in the United States. A yes answer
would endorse some loss of information, a position no AIMR member wishes
to support. A no answer implies special treatment for foreign companies to
compete in U.S. capital markets without disclosing all that U.S. companies
must, thus perpetuating noncomparable financial reports between U.S. and
non-U.S. issuers. Furthermore, if the SEC were 10 accept IASC GAAP for all
public companies, its reports would be noncomparable with those of privale
companies who (presumably) would continue 1o follow U.S. GAAP.

For the time being, in our opinion, the SEC should continue to require
foreign companies to provide a reconciliation from the accounting standards
followed in their home country to U.S. GAAP. We believe that foreign
companies should be allowed and encouraged to adopt IASC GAAP, but that
the reconciliation to U.S. GAAP should continue to be required at least until
the IASC Improvements Project is completed. At that time, we shall need to
reconsider our position,

Frequency of Reporting. In the United States, publicly owned
companies are required to report quarterly on Form 10-Q filings with the SEC.
Exchange regulations require listed firms to send quarterly reports directly to
shareholders. Private companies also tend 1o report quarterly to their creditors
and other financial statlement users. In most other countries, financial reports
are issued semi-annually; in a few countries, only annual reporting is the norm.
Some people now advocate that the United States abolish its quarierly reporting
requirement and regress to semi-annual or even annual reporting only.

AIMR unequivocally supporis quarterly financial reporting and is opposed
to any movement to eliminate it. Ourarguments on that subject appear in more
detail later in this report. Al this point, we wish merely 1o point out that some
of the impetus for the eradication of quarterly reporting results from the
phenomenon of globalization. We believe that financial markets, both
domestic and foreign, are best served by frequent and even-handed
dissemination of information to the public. We urge the Congress of the United
States, the SEC and its international counterpart-—IOSCO-—to heed the

admonitions later in this report on the subject of quarterly reporting.

Auditing or Other Forms of Enhancing Financial Statement Credibility.
Inrecent years, the IASC has received a great amount of attention as it altempts
to cadify a globally acceptable set of accounting standards. Aliernatively,
more people should become informed of the role of a parallel organization, the
International Federation of Accountants and its Auditing Practices Commillee,
because its work is as necessary to the integrity of financial statements as is

Changing World and its Implications for Anafysis 25

that of the 1ASC. As financial stalements begin to conform to a worldwide
GAAP, we need also to be able to rely on them. _ o __

Although we hold no brief for considering “madf: in Amerlca. audl.ls
supreme, we are aware that agreed-upon audit standards in this
country—general standards, standards of ficldwork, and standards of
reporting—are in some ways superior lo those in some other szrls of the wqud.
In particular, we regard independence as an essential prerequisite to attestation.
Yet there are countries where the law mandates that the auditor be a mem_bcr
of the corporate governing board. In some countries, the edu(.:anon
requirements for auditors may be inadequate to ke-ep lhen.l up to dale.wu!'l the
electronic systems and the sophisticated financial affairs of multinational
companies. . _

We believe that international agreement on auditing standards and practices
would improve the standards of practice in all countries, including the Umle'd
States and Canada. For example, the infamous collapse of the Bapk for C}'Edll
and Commerce International indicates how a truly delem.ﬁ.ned mler.m.mon'al
renegade enterprise can shelter itself from effeclivc_ au.dm.ng .by' hiding its
records and conducting its corporate affairs in jurisdictions .wnh
less-than-strict financial regulation. We seek, together with professional
accountants worldwide, to prevent a recurrence of that calamity.

Preclude the “Lowest Common Denominator” Syndrome. As g!o-
balization of accounting, disclosure, reporting [requency, anfi aL.ndmng
standards proceeds, we must guard against the penchant to.avcud .dlff-lCl.I.ll
choices. Standards differ around the world in substance and in qunllly. Itis
always easier to lower the barriers than to raise them, lhex:eby adopting the
basest rule rather than the most elevated. AIMR stands behlnfl those who are
willing to make hard choices and raise the level in the majority of the world
(including, in several instances, the United Stales. and' Canada) Tafhcr than
acquiescing to the lowest common denominator. leewme..we an'm:lpale. l!mt
standards setters, regulators, and professional accountants will aspire 1o raising
global financial reporting to the highest and most useful level attainable.

Quantum Increases in Computing Power and Access to It

One wonders if and when the pace of progress in computing will ever slow.,
Processing speeds and storage capacity continue to become available in large
quantities and at low prices unheard of previously. A corollary is that
comnuting also has been made available to individuals and has become
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entify the implicatj
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Some services, such as Compusiat, aitempt to adjust the data themselves;
others do not. The need to adjust will be diminished and the quality of
comparisons clevated to the extent that financial accounting standards produce
financial statements that are consistent from period 1o period and comparable
from company to company. That is a goal to be coveted, but analysts
themselves should realize it will never be totally attained.

The SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering And Retrieval System. We look
forward to the imminen availability of the SEC’s new method of making
company filings available. Although it has been many years in development
and subject to multiple delays, it promises to be a vast improvement over the
present system. 1t will place documents in electronic storage and overcome
the frequent problems of missing and misfiled documents now encountered by
analysts or the agencies serving them, 1t will also dispense information faster
than currently by placing a document in the data base when it is received. The
SEC’s initial plans are that it not be directly accessible by analysts; instead its
contents will be marketed by vendors selected by the SEC. [t promises to
surpass all other data bases for its sheer quantity of information about public
companies. Eventually, it may make even the most recalcitrant analyst into a

data base user,

Business Activities That Do Not Fit a Manufacturing/Mercantile
Accounting Model

The traditional accounting model was developed originally to fit mercantile
firms by matching to sales revenue the costs of producis sold together with the
other periodic costs of running the business. It also was grounded in the
concept of the business entity. 1t was modified, through the aegis of cost
accounting, to include manufacturing activities. That modification was less
than perfect and ofien resulted in the need for additional information to be
generated outside the accounting system for use in decision making and
control. But for external reporting purposes, the fit was considered adequate
and is being followed more or less faithfully today even though much business
activity takes place for which the traditional accounting model is inadequate,
We do not think that it should be discarded or replaced, but we believe that it
is in need of some major modifications, as we specify in more delail later.

Changes In Business Ownership. Mergerand acquisition activity ebbs
and flows with economic cycles, but each pinnacle seems higher than the last,
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Many people believe that existing values can be realized only when a
transaction takes place, a major premise of accounting as practiced today. But
this leads to certain financial statement anomalies. For example, when Firm
A is purchased by Firm B, it is the assets and liabilities of Firm A that are
recorded at their fair value, not those of Firm B. That is because those values
are considered 10 have been validated by a transaction, even though the
transaction was at a single price for the entire firm and cannot be a reliable
measure of the specific value of any of its components. One could then argue
that whatever techniques are used to place values on the individual assets and
liabilities of Firm A could be used o restate the assets and liabilities of Firm
B. If not, then we perhaps ought not 1o apply them to Firm A.

An even more difficult situation arises when Firm B acquires less than total
ownership of Firm A. Under current practice, only the proportionate share of
Firm A’s assets and liabilities owned by Firm B are revalued, but all of Firm
A’s assets and liabilities— partially revalued, partially not—are consolidated
with those of Firm B, none of whose assets and liabilities have been revalued.
What a mélange! The result is a combination of historic and current values
that only a mystic could sort out with precision.

The rise of highly leveraged transactions and the concomitant issuance of
high-risk securities raises additional problems. Questions arise over the extent
to which values that obviously exist (because lenders and others have invested
in them) should be recognized in the financial statements. In many cases, we
see accounting that differs because of the form of the underlying transaction,
not its substance, Concurrenily, we see differences in substance that are not
reflected in the dccounting,

In addition 1o the problem of when 10 recognize new values at the time of
business combinations, we have the old one of when 1o derecognize values that

no longerexist. It is difficult today to find a major company that has not during
the three most recent years had at least one major writedown of asset values
under the rubric of “restructuring charge” or some similar appellation. More
times than not, these come as fourth quarter “surprises” to financial analysts,
Not only do we need standards that make asset impairment writedowns more
predictable, we also find it peculiar that many accountants deem writedowns
1o be good because they are “conservative” whereas writeups are not. 1t seems
to us that whatever criteria are applied to determine writedowns would be every
bit as verifiable and useful if also applied to writeups.

The matters discussed in this section currently have been and are addressed
in several FASB Discussion Memoranda. We commend the Board for
confronting them, Completion of the FASB’s work on this subject is needed
to eliminate the remarkable conceptual inconsistency in accounting in these
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areas and its exacerbation by intense business acquisition and combination

activity.

Rise in the Proportion of Economic Actwrty Conducted b;fl the Semceﬁom
Sector. Whether we like it or not, manufacturing and mercantile oPe‘ra “hé
have become over time a smaller and smaller segmemlof the econor;n;s 3 [ihe
United States, Canada, and many other develop?,d nations. Mu?‘h of the s
added by business enterprises in those economies now comes ron3r ;Z;\; an;
business services, personal services, :mt'i ﬁnanc‘lal services. hese e
businesses in which physical assets, plarllls, inventories, and the llkcf, av: hlave
importance. In turn, traditional accounting-based performance medsu:VES'ed
also suffered severely reduced usefulnesﬁ. For example,' return on |ﬁrm o
capital is not a very meaningful measure in a law {irm or accouphlni fom;ed
even an investment advisory firm, because so much of the caplta' i ne
from human resources, inhereatly unmeasurable under current accounting
pre;eef:isc-:e firms can be divided into two dif ff:rent caleg.ori.es: ﬁnanc:(llal(;;f:lll'v1(:&i:rsl

and all others. The latter encompasses a variety of activities. Inclu ebl ti:rll':ss
are professional services (legal, accounting, a}rf:hllecluml, etc.), ' 1use(c )
services (telecommunications and cable television, waste relmo‘vla . e es
entertainment in all its myriad forms including sports, and educan.ona s;f:r\.":::cm
provided by a variety of vendors. A.;ll of these endeavors h-.weofcflc:;ma
implications for financial reporting. l.:u:sl, l-he valu_e of the serwcel. WOUI:.;
have little relation io the cost of providing it. A different perspec ve d
be that certain services are unique or otherwise protected fro!n t:o.mpe:llucl){n,t ;
in the case of cable television. Conversely, some other services are markete
it treme. N
5 Ellnc':::lrllpcftt"l[tll:'t:,:szxservice companies, imditi.onal measures of proﬁl:fl.b:::z;
liquidity, productivity, solvency, and efficiency have lost s;xme od Lheir
uscfulness. The share of economic resources represem.e_d I'Jy P .:)m_ar:- otter
tangible assets has diminished in size and importance, -d-lwldc?dk i{ |l|:a‘:-e fand
assels arising from monopoly rights and other 51{1gu1a-r1ues,. market s | .nd :
brand names, contractual and other stable relationships with f}llefl-]le e(:l a »
host of others, Inmany cases, the future cash flows of the service firm 1’eo|3’e:id‘3
on retaining personnel who are trained and competent to continue l;o p ide
services to existing customers and, even more important, to bring
the business. o
Cus'll'(i)lzu}:;z:;ems in accounting for service-type firms are epitomized }2)‘; lsh];:
methods of accounting that apply to computer software firms,



30 _Financial Reporting in the 1990s and Beyond

Changing World and its Implications for Analysis 31

Statement 86 sets standards for accounting for the cost of computer software
to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed. Its reasoning is in accord with
traditional accounting thought, but its result is to place on the balance sheet as
an asset an amount that depicts neither the value of the software nor the total
cost of developing it. Software revenue recognition is addressed in AICPA
Statement of Position 91-1. It applies accounting for contracts more or less
successfully to computer software development, but it gives unsatisfactory
answers to the unigue problem of a software vendor's continuing obligations
to customers after installation. We do not fault either the FASB or the AICPA.
They did the best they could in applying the current accounting model to a
situation it was not designed to fit. Nor do we believe that the current
accounting model should be discarded for one that is radically different. We
are at this time merely pointing out the strains on it from applying it to new

and different business activities, Qur suggestions for change appear later in
this report.

Financial Services and the Proilferation of Financial Instruments. Fin-
ancial services firms, primarily financial institutions and other intermediaries,
are like other service firms in that tangible assets are insignificant to them. But
their other assets are different, being composed almost entirely of financial
instruments. Most of those instruments represent diverse contractual
arrangements with heterogeneous counterparties, with equity investments
constituting the remainder. Financial firms also have substantial liabilities in
the form of financial instruments. The success or failure of such a firmistoa
large extent dependent on how well its management matches, from one side
of the balance sheet to the other, maturities, yields, and other characteristics
of its financial asset and liability positions. None of this is new,

What is new are two related matters of current and continuing concern. First
is the proliferation of new and exotic financial instruments, many of which do
not now appear on balance sheets or, if they do, understale the potential for
loss that they engender. Analysts also are confounded by the interrelationships
and complexity of financial instruments. For example, how can risks be
assessed intelligently for a financial institution that is extensively arbitraged
through contractual arrangements with multiple other financial institutions
worldwide? Those risks are at least 10 be disclosed under the provisions of
FASB Statement 105, but the disclosures are scattered throughout the financial
statement notes and are completely understood only by relatively sophisticated
and tenacious financial statement readers.

Complex and sophisticated financial instruments are used for a variety of
purposes, and their propagation continues unabated. Snme divide cinala

instruments into component parts to serve the. speciglized nged:; of g::izt;m
providers of capital who otherwise could not‘mvesl in a particular :1 v n)’ze
Others bundle multiple instruments into a smg!e package,‘ agfnll;ls o e
specific investor demands. Many have bet?n desngngd to shift ris| loo hose
willing 1o undertake them and provide hedging to their c(Junterp:«.lrlt]u:s.Skinin
have been designed and are used for more nefarious reasons, suc asd s ;ﬁ
the boundaries of accounting standards, rules, and practices. A(i; am iti e
standards are wrilten, new instrume?ts see:n"ll o blc c:ated 1o evade them.

i tion of many financial analysts. . .
lea‘sﬁ‘:r’::haclc::r:zﬁfim::hi FASB fo);' undertaking ils_ gargantuan rfmancn:g
instruments project. In many of its facets, we are being forcefi to a;:e al:lzial
the deficiencies arising from application of historic cost accounting 13 t_m i
instruments. [n the worst cases, historic cost accountmg has allo'we u:mless
enterprises to manipulate reported income by recogmzmgcgmn'sl e(z:: dm s
frequently, losses) at will rather than when they oc_:cun:ed. ogn;: 1o that 8
the resultant inclusion on balance sheets of hnstf)nc costs tl :}11 pear no
relationship to their current value and that too many n:nes concea "e a
the financial instruments they purport to portray are - under \l..'ater.- —

The second major issue pertaining (o ﬁnanc:al. services is whe e
mark-to-market accounting is the remedy for the deficiencies of h1slonc:t .
as applied to financial instruments. Some AIMR ‘membersmzut!:;;)ncm
wholeheartedly and believe that it should supplant historic cost on financta
statements. Others have reservations about or are opposed to mar t:be“eve
accounting. None is opposed to disclosur‘e of. market values, anq most elieve
that it is vital. Some urge caution to avoid dleclosures lh.at are fmc;lmgizmﬁc
that imply that market value disclosure can easily be substituted for er Histone
valuations that appear on financial statements now. In sum, we artl:] ai ot
information about market values is important, but we differ on (t1 e tt_:gr o
importance and the extent to which they should be |nForpf)rate in finan
reports. This topic is discussed at greater length later in this report.

Growth InmeSizeoflnstmmonaIOWnerghlpofSewriﬁa. Sinc ;
World War II, the proportion of securities, particularly common stolcsl,cg,’ :)wmi
by institutions has grown continuously. At the end of Septemberél ) .r(::: rﬂ
54.5 percent of total equities were held by houscho}ds, down fro.m m pe !
in 1950," The rest are held by mutual funds,' pension plans, phllil[.l ]'oplr; an ;
educational organizations, etc. The rise of msmuuqnal c.)wn'ershlp is su _]G?Cl
matter for a different report than this, but it does have implications for financia

Veact Book for the Year 1991. (New York: New York Stock Exchange, Inc., 1992), p. 28.
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analysis.

A notable consequence of the rise of institutional investors is the increased
need for financial reports written for and directed to the professionals who
actually select or otherwise recommend the securities owned by institutions
They shou.ld be viewed as the primary audience for financial statements The-
needs‘ of individual investors are often cited in discussions of ﬁna:.ncial
reporting. Bul the acumen, cognizance, and savvy of individual investors is
f)ften underestimated. It wouid be scandalous to deprive professional
!nveslmf{nl advisors, portfolio managers, and other financial analysts of
!an@atlon they need on the flimsy grounds that those data might confuse
individuals who do not understand accounting. Afier all, those who profess to

i S P

QUALITATIVE CHARACTERISTICS
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

There is general agreement that accounting and other financial data shoutd
have certain characteristics. The Financial Accounting Standards Board’s
Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2, “Qualitative
Characteristics of Accounting Information” (FAC 2) creates two groups of
these characteristics under the headings “relevance” and “reliability.” That
grouping is appropriate because in many cases the format and content of
accounting data require a trade-off between the two., Certainly financial
analysts desire information that is both relevant and reliable, but their bias is
towards relevance. Ina phrase, analysts prefer information that is equivocaily
right rather than precisely wrong. Inexact measures of contemporaneous
economic values generally are more useful than fastidious historic records of
past exchanges. A short discussion of several characteristics of accounting
quality and our views of them follows.

Relevance

In an ideal world, the most relevant accounting data would be those that
reported assets and liabilities in a way that would allow analysts to impute the
future cash flows emanating from them individually and collectively. The
certainty embodied in that world does not exist. In fact, if it did, there would
be no need for analysis. Therefore, we must strive for an accounting model
that reflects the degree of uncertainty that besets a particular enterprise, the
consequence of which is a valuation system that is eclectic. Some assets, such
as receivables, are stated explicitly at the amounts expected to be received in
cash. Other assets, such as certain types of securities, are stated at market
vaiue, implicitly the amount of cash that could be received. Some assets are
stated at the amounts paid for them (historic cost) pending receipt of evidence
that they are worth some other amount (realization). Some assels may not
appear in the financial statements at all because there is no sensible way 1o
report them.

Historic costs are sunk costs and there is little disagreement that they are
often irrelevant to financial decisions. But there is considerable debate as 1o
whether they should be totaily replaced by more relevant current values,
whether current values should be provided only as supplementary dala, what
version of current value should be used, and how (in the absence of a



34 Financial Reporting in the 19905 and Beyvond

ﬁrm-sp.eciﬁc exchange or organized auction market) current value should be
determined. There also is some opinion among AIMR members that
deleminatim of the current values of specific assets is a function of financial
analysis, not financial reporting. However, almost all would agree that
so-called “lower of cost or market” methods are neither informative nor useful,
They are based on the untenable premise that market value is a good accounting
measure when it is lower than historic cost, but not when it is higher. The best
argument that can be made in favor of lower of cost or market is that it does
revcal markel values when they are lower than cost, thus divulging impnnan.t
information on cenain asset impairments.

Reliability: General

The twp primary components of reliability are verifiability and
representational faithfulness. The former refers to the likelihood that different
accoumf'mts. availing themselves of the same evidence, will draw similar
conf:lusmns. The latter refers to the likelihood that the accounting measure
depicts accurately the nature of the object being measured.

Reliability: Verifiability

This characieristic is intimately related to the attest function. For financial
reports to be useful, they must be trustworthy. The report of the independent
auditor is essential. The auditor, however, can verify only that which can be
documented or confirmed. Perhaps that is one reason for the extensive amount
of detailed guidance provided with current accounting standards. As the
standards-setting process has infiltrated areas in which the rneasure;nems are
!ess than precise (pensions and other postemployment benefits, financial
instruments, recognition of fee revenues, etc.), the rules have become more
detailed. Detailed rules may also be perceived as necessary 1o serve the needs
of Polh financial statement preparers and their independent auditors
_Venﬁability implies that two unrelated parties considering the same facls-
independently will draw similar conclusions, It is possible that detailed rules
are now the only way to inculcate verifiability into measurements that
otherwise are subject to honest differences of opinion. Can better ways be
found? We hope so and are heartened by the issuance of FASB Statement 109,

“{\ccounling for Income Taxes,” which we regard as a step in the right
direction.
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Another aspect of verifiability is knowledge of its absence. Most
accounting numbers have an appearance of precision. But other than
contemporaneous exchanges involving cash, accounting numbers are
determined by estimates of various degrees of inexactitude. Analysis need to
know how indefinite those numbers are, and they need to know the degree to
which the same economic event or condition could have been reported
differently using alternative measurement methods. More information of that
sort incorporated in financial reports would be exceedingly welcome.

Reliability: Representational Faithfulness

Asselts and liabilities are probable future economic benefits and claims
apainst those benefits, and users of financial statements expect to see them
depicted accurately. There are two aspects to representing them faithfully.
One is to select the appropriate attribute to measure; the other is to measure it
accurately. There are too many examples to cite them all, but one may be
instructive.

Under current accounting practice, intangible assets are recorded at cost
only when they are purchased from another entilty, either separately or as part
of a business combination. The effect is that self-developed intangibles are
not recorded at all or at the nominal amounts spent to assure monopoly rights,
Furthermore, the costs of both purchased and self-developed intangibles are
amortized over arbitrary future time spans, even though their value may
decrease in some other pattern or, in many cases, increase as the enterprise
makes additional expenditures to maintain or enhance their value. Those
accounting practices cause severe noncomparability between and among
companies,

Also, repardless of whether intangibles are recorded at the cost of
purchasing them or at the nominal amounts to develop them internally, many
of the future benefits 1o be obtained from them are more speculative and
conjectural than those to be received from tangible assets which ordinarily
have some value in altemnative use, So only at the date on which purchased
intangibles are acquired do the financiai statements assuredly reflect amounts
that purport to be representationally faithful of economic reality. Moreover,
there may well be no accounting measure capable of expressing well over time
that the sole economic benefit of intangible assets is their potential contribution
to the future cash flows of the enterprise. Our specific recommendations for
accounting for intangible assets are discussed later in this report.
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Timeliness

Although FAC 2 categorizes timeliness as a subset of relevance, it has an
importance to analysts that merits attention of its own. As we arguc above,
financial information is useful only when it is disseminated quickly, fairly, and
widely because the digestion of such information by analysts is what makes
markets efficient. In the United States and Canada, this has been embodied in
the practice of companies issuing financial statements quarterly supplemented
by press releases and, in the U.S., Form 8-K disclosures for imporiant events
occurring between reports.

Recently there has been vocal criticism of the practice of quarterly financiat
reporting. 1t has been accused of causing managers of U.S. businesses 1o focus
on short-term results and of neglecting those activities whose worth would be
greater over a longer time. Investors have been blamed for calling portfolio
managers 1o account for their quarterly performances and portfolio managers
for responding to them.

Ironically, the financial markets are increasingly influenced by the
investment activities of pension lrusts, whose corporate sponsors are managed
by the same persons who protest that frequent interim reports force them to
manage for the short term. Also, it is unlikely that rational investors will punish
a firm for undertaking projects that promise extraordinary long-term payoffs
as long as that firm is willing and able 10 communicale to those investors its
strategy and tactics.

A further irony is that business managers themselves often are compensated
or otherwise rewarded for short-term performance, measured either by
accounting numbers or by the market performance of their employer's
securities. Relief from so-called “short termism” is more likely to be
successfully effected through changes in corporate governance, including
fundamental and radical changes in the paradigm used to reward certain
exccutives, than by abolishing one of the most important sources of analytic
information available.

A collateral benefit of frequent financial reporting is that it diminishes
opportunities for irading on privileged information, a practice AIMR and other
responsible members of the investment community deplore. The longer a
company wails to release information to the public, the more likely it is that
the information will become known sooner to a small and select group that can
use it to trade for its own benefit. Even under current disclosure rules, which
many find draconian, financia! information has from time to time been
intercepted or diverted on its way to dissemination.
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Neutrality

In addition to timely dissemination, tjairness also rcqunres
neutrality—presentation of data that are without bias. Investors buy and sell
securities. Financial reporis should inform traders on both Sldf:s of a
transaction in such a way that neither is favored. Murfh of. what applies here
was discussed above under the heading of relevance. Hlslfnm": cosls, even more
so lower of cost or market procedures, lend to introdu.'lcc bias in favor of buyers
of securities by suppressing good news while revealing the bad straight away.
The absence of adjustments to reflect price changes, even as'supplerr!enlnry
information only, in North American accounting standards institutes a bl;ls hthal
varies in proportion to (1) the rate of price cl'!ange, (2} the dispersion o tldf)se
changes among the various goods and services traded, and (3) the holding

period for assets whose prices change.



BROAD TOPICS OF CURRENT IMPORTANCE
TO ANALYSTS

In this section, we address several financial reporting matters that are of
current and continuing importance to investment managers and analysis.
Some of the subjects considered herein embody difficult guestions for both
financial reporting and financial analysis. On some of those questions AIMR
members hold strong and unified views. On others, their opinions are divided,
although their individual views may be no less strongly held.

Mark-to-Market Accounting: Value versus Valuation

Former SEC Chairman Richard Breeden once said that financial reports
should begin with the phrase “Once upon a time . . " His remark certainly
was made with pejorative intent, given his many public statements in favor of
recording financial assets at their market value, so-calied “mark to market”
accounting. In addition to the public advecacy of mark-to-market accounting
by ex-Chairman Breeden, there have been other moves in that direction both
in the United States and Canada, as well as abroad. The Financial Accounting
Suandards Board (FASB), in its financial instruments project, has issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 107 (FAS 107), which
requires disclosure of the market value of many financial instruments. The
FASB also has suggested market values as potentially appropriate measures
in its discussion memorandum “Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Instruments.” Members of the Accounting Standards Board in the United
Kingdom also have expressed strong support for using market values in
financial reports.

AIMR members have different views on market values. Virwally all favoer
disclosure of market values, at least for financial instruments. No one seems
to believe that disclosure aione could be detrimental to analysts’ interests, and
all but a few believe that disclosure would be beneficial. Most are opposed to
replacing historic cost with market values, but a significant minority favors
such a move. Most oppose extending mark-to-market accounting from
financial assets to real assets, aithough a small number does not. Almost all
agree that if mark-io-market accounting were o be mandated, it should be
applied with equanimity to both the left-hand side and the right-hand side of
the balance sheet. All agree that it is only specific identifiable assets and
liabilities that should be marked to market; determination of the market values
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of entire firms is the business of financial analysis, not financial reporting.
Mark-to-market accounting has many ramifications that have different
amounts of persuasive power on individual analysts.

Knowing What Market Valuels. It is axiomatic that it is better 10 know
what something is worth now than what it was worth at some moment in the
past. However, that is easier said than done. Much has been made of the fact
that securities firms and mutual funds mark their balance sheets to market
daily. The question is asked why banks and other financial institutions cannot
do the same. The answer is that it can be done but with conceptual and practical
difficulties that do not exist for security firms and mutual funds.

Balance sheets that are marked to market now are done so on a daily basis.
They are never out of date, because they are replaced by a new balance sheet
every single business day. Other enterprises issue financial statements less
frequently, quarterly and annually. Furthermore, it takes some time after the
balance sheet date to prepare and disseminate it. By the time the balance sheet
reaches the analyst, it already is out of date. Historic cost itself is in reality
historic market value, the amount of a past transaction engaged in by the firm.
Some argue that if we are to be presented with market values that are bound
10 be historic by the time they arrive, we are better off with older but
transaction-based historic cost.

The counter-arguments to that line of reasoning are two. First, many
historic costs are seriously out of date. They may have littie relation to the
current market value of assels, whereas the balance sheet market values (which
are only slightly out-of-date) still will have a good amount of relevance,
Second, market vaiue data are comparable. If all enterprises mark their balance
sheets to market on the same date, they are all out-of-date by the same interval.
Historic cost data are never comparable on a firm-to-firm basis because the
costs were incurred at different dates by different firms (or even within a single
firm).

There is no financial analyst who would not want to know the market value
of individual assets and liabilities. There are many, however, who believe that
those values are essentiaily unknowable.

Applicability Limited by Measurement Problems. When the term
“market value™ is used, one is inclined 10 conjure up a mental picture of the
busy trading floors of the New York Stock Exchange or the Chicago Board of
Trade, frenzied with the activity of bringing together the effects of supply and
demand on innumerable well-informed iraders. A variety of equity securities,
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debt instruments, and commeodities have their values continually being revised
by frequent trades in well-functioning auction markets. Many other assets,
including a myriad of financial instrumenits, do not trade frequently, and when
they do trade the amounts and prices of those exchanged can deviate
considerably over short periods of time. Supply and demand for a large
number of financial assets is so thin as to defy determining their market values
at any moment with a great deal of precision.

An aliemate approach is to determine the market rate of interest at which to
discount a given stream of cash flows expecied to emanate from a particular
financial instrument or portfolio of similar instruments. This might work with
financial instruments that are securities, such as bonds, where the rates at which
more popular issues trade could be applied 1o less frequently traded issves of
the same credit quality, Bul even there one could infer that the rate on the
marketable issue probably would be lower than that of a bond that is harder to
liquidate. We also encounter the problem of determining the market rate of
interest for financial instruments that do not trade, such as portfolios of
consumer or business loans. How can we ensure comparability among a vast
number of country banks choosing to measure with the same interest rate when
they may have different costs of funds and local or regional variations in
business conditions and credit risk?

Although our experience in the securities indusiry indicates to us that
mark-to-market measures lack a good amount of reliability, one exception is
marketable equity securities. As they are defined by Financial Accounting
Standard No. 12, "Accounting for Certain Marketable Securities’-—now
superseded by Financial Accounting Standard No. 115 (FAS 115)—they have
market values that are relatively easily determined by frequent trades in
markets of sizable breadth and depth. All but one member of AIMR's
Financial Accounting Policy Committee (FAPC) agreed that those securities
should be reported at market value, The FAPC's view is based also on the
unique characteristic of equity securities that they provide no contractually
specified future cash paymt:ms.l Therefore, in their case, expected or
hoped-for changes in market value are much if not all of the reason for
investing in them. Recently issued FAS 115 goes part of the way by requiring
marketable equily securities to be reported at market value, but using historic
cost as the basis for recognition of gain or loss for most such securities. We

"This recommendation also applies to preferred stocks, even though they have a specified
dividend amoum or rite. That dividend is a ceiling, not a floor, on the amount to be paid; the
preferred dividend itself constitutes a preference not a claim. The FAPC is on record, in previous
comments to the FASB, as advocating that a prefermed stock carrying a mandatory payment
requirement be recorded and reported as a liability.
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support the valuation but not the gain/loss recognition provisions of FAS 115.

Debt securities present a different situation. Many investors in these
securities have little interest in the day-to-day changes in quoted prices. They
hold such securities primarily in anticipation of collecting their future cash
proceeds. The vast majority of debt security holders are financial institutions
that seek 10 match streams of cash inflows from investments to their obligations
payable in cash outflows. A basic principle of managing a financial
intermediary is to minimize interest rate risk by linking financial asset
investments to financial instrument liabilities. The process is best
characterized as being one step short of hedging. Until methods are available
10 determine with reliability the market values of afl the related financial
liabilities, we cannot support a unilateral marking to market of the assets alone.

We are very aware of the fact that some institutions, in particular certain
failed savings associations, have engaged in gains trading (“cherry picking,”
to some) in their bond investment portfolios. That leaves a portfolio primarily
constituted of bonds whose market price is less than cost; the portfolio is said
to be “under water.” This objectionable practice would be eliminated by
mark-to-market accounting under which gains and losses would be recognized
as they occur, rather than as the effect of an exchange. Furthermore, whether
investments in bonds are accounted for at cost, at market, or otherwise, the
reported amounts of gains and losses should be separated from other revenues
and expenses on the income statement so that financial analysts and others can
both detect and evaluate them. If that procedure were to be followed, then
under current GAAP,” gains trading should be evident to an astute analyst who
looks closely both at the institution's sources of earnings and its disclosures
of the market values of portfolios being carried at cost.

How to Implement Mark-to-Market Accounting. What would be the
scope of mark-to-market accounting if it should be employed? Will it apply
to all assets or only some? both assets and liabilities? all assets and some
liabilities? Will it apply to all industries or only to some? Will it apply
differently to different types of companies? These are the several broad
questions that at least have to be considered before we plunge into the
unknown,

2FAS 115 makes the requisite data for analysis more readily available than before, but we
do not believe it represents an improvement in either recognition or measurement. We also
believe thal it is unjust to mandate a costly change in accounting for well-managed institutions
to stone for the misconduct of others.
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We start by considering a recent and current problem: how 1o value the bond
portfolios of financial intermediaries. At the urging of the SEC, the problem
was deliberated at length by the Accounting Standards Executive Commiittee
(AcSEC) of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA),
which issued several exposure drafts of position papers. When those efforts
proved unsuccessful, the problem was passed on to the FASB, which issued
FAS 115. Many observers note that marking to market only the bond
investment portfolio introduces to reported eamingsj a volatility that does not
really exist because it is in effect canceled by unrecognized changes in
liabilities having similar interest rate risk. However, counterpart liabilities
cannot be identified that specifically relate to a bond portfolio, Thus, one is
led 10 conclude that mark-to-market could only work if it were applied 10 all
assets and liabilities. In financial institutions, that entails all the measurement
difficulties discussed above,

It also forces consideration of the valuation of core deposits. Theoretically,
there is no way in which a liability that must be paid at face amount on demand
should have a market different from its nominal amount. But sometimes it
does. This has been borne out by prices paid to acquire financial
intermediaries. Even more dramatic evidence has come via recent “sales” of
core deposits alone. The “sale” involves the acquiring institution accepting
core deposit liabilities of a certain stated amount in exchange for receiving
assels of a lesser amount. The valuation of core deposits is controversial, and
it appears unlikely that recognition of their market value will be allowed, either
directly or through recognition of a core deposit intangible asset. Even if
recognition were permitted, how would the value of core deposits that are not
traded be measured?

For non-financial enlerprises, how should mark-to-market accounting be
applied, or should it? If financial services enlerprises are required to mark
their financial instruments to market, should not all firms that hold or issue
financial instruments also be required to record them at market value? For
some such enterprises that hold large and stable interests in other enterprises,
doing so would introduce a volatility into reported eamings that seems
unrelated to the economic accomplishment of the period. But most assets of
such firms are non-financial, either tangible (such as inventory and plant) or
intangibles of various sorts. Marking these 1o market would require solutions
to different measurement problems, the pursuit of which unfortunately ceased

%In FAS 115, the FASB has evaded the issue by prescribing that a portion of the debt
porifolic be marked to market, but without recognition of its effect on eamings, a position with
which no FAPC members agrees.
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when the FASB issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 89.* The concfept
of measuring the current cost {or some other current n:larkel value) of tnngr'ble
assels is relatively straightforward, but its application engenders practlcfal
difficulties and often preduces less-than-precise measurements. Answers \-\rllh
respect lo intangible assets are not so obvious, and we devole a separate section
of this report below to their consideration.

EffectofMarketValueChmgwonTrendAnatysig Man.y financial
analysts oppose mark-to-market accounting because of its p?ten?tml effecfts on
their analysis of trends. Much current analysis of finapcnal. intermedinries
focuses on changes in balance sheet items stated at hlSlOl‘IIC cosl. Trfend
analysis, in particular, requires comparable numbers p_ent‘)d by pt_:nor:'l.
Historic costs allow analysts 1o assess changes in a financial 1!1|ermed1ary §
financial position without having first to remove the confounding effects on
that position of exogenous economic events. For example, analytic
disaggregation of a loan portfolio by geographic area, purpose Df. loan
(commercial real estate, consumer credit), and s_o t_)n is essential to
understanding the risks and exposures of a financial institution. Many_:malysls
seek data that reveal the changes in the intermediary’s portfolio resulting from
transactions, excluding the effect of changes imposed by Ehe mar.kf:t. In
addition, they wish to compare historic yields on investments in sc'tcunlles and
other financial instruments with the institution’s overall and re_gmnal cost c.'f
funds. Those analysts feel that important data would be irretrievably lost if
historic costs were supplanted in the financial statements themselves by
mark-to-market accounling.

Effect of Market Value Changes onIncome. No matter how well
mark-to-market accounting could be implemented and applied judiciousl'y.m
matched assets and liabilities, it still would increase significantly the volfaullty
of reported eamings. Some argue that the volatility exists and that a primary
benefit of mark-to-market accounting is that real volatility would be revealed.
We agree. But the question of how business enterprises and the capital markets
are to deal with it remains.

As financial reporting is practiced today, financial managers hn.ve.much
discretion over the recognition of changes in value by astute timing of
exchange transactions and by the adoption of artful allocation procedures.

h “*This standard removed the requirement, under FAS 33, for disclosure of supplementary
infermation on changing prices. Although FAS 89 encourages such disclosures, they have
rarely been seen in U.S. financial reporting since the requirement was removed.



44 Financial Reporting in the 1990s and Beyond

Mark-to-market accounting would take away much of that discretion. Even
where the relative influence of market value changes is small overall, at the
"margin it has the propensity to make eamings exceedingly unpredictable, a
disconcerting fact for cnterprises trying to minimize their capital costs by
reporting smooth and growing eamings.

Some analysts are quite willing to accept the increases in reported income
volatility that would be produced under mark-to-market accounting. Many
even would welcome it. They argue that the effects on a particular enlerprise
of general economic conditions and financial market movements are relevant
and vital to their assessments of the enterprise’s economic status and Progress
over time. They may not yet be ready to do away with historic cost entirely,
but they look forward to the opportunity of integrating FAS 107 data inlo their
evaluations and forecasts now that they have become generally available.

One method for dealing with changing market values and their effect on
income would be for the FASB to generate accounting standards that put into
practice the concept of comprehensive income that appears in Concepts
Statement No. 6. As defined in Paragraphs 73-77 of that statement,
comprehensive income would encompass all changes in owners’ equity
exclusive of transactions with owners themselves. It would also be
disaggregated into a variety of basic components and intermediate
components. Thus the effect of exogenous events such as market value
changes would be separated from the effect of endogenous productive
activities. If market value changes were reported separately and clearly, their
effect isolated, then their unpredictability would assume a lesser importance
as it was assessed separately from productive activities.

Prognosis for Mark-to-Market Accounting. A few financial analysts
and investment managers arc unequivocally opposed to (and a few are
unalterably in favor of) mark-to-market accounting. But most have adopted a
wait-and-see attitude. It is difficult to forsake historic cost when it is uncertain
that its replacement will accomplish what its advocates promise. FAS 107,
which became effective for fiscal periods ending afier December 15, 1992,
requires disclosure of the market value of many financial instrument assets but
only some of the related liabilities. We anticipate that many of the problems
set forth in the preceding discussion will be encountered in its application. We
welcome the opportunily to deal with them in a realistic setting without having
to make a total commitment and changeover to mark-lo-markel accounting.
We also expect that at least some of the experience gained from applying FAS
107 1o financial instruments may be transferable later to nonfinancial assets
and liabilities.
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We regret that we are unable herein to report a consensus among FAPC
members on the mark-to-markel issue. We are able to report the scope and
nature of the different viewpoints held by knowledgeable and sincere financial
analysts. We need more information, however, and we are acting 1o obtain it.
As a result of comment on the exposure draft of this report, AIMR has
authorized a comprehensive study and report of the opinions of the entire
AIMR membership on the role of market values in financial reporting. That
siudy is now in its early stages and is being conducted by a subcommittee of
the FAPC.

Finally, we note that mark-to-market accounting is intended to apply to
individual assets and/or liabilities, either singly or in portfolios of
homogeneous components. Despite our overall opposition to its .imminem
adoption, we consider it to be appropriately within the domain gf the
accounting function. On the other hand, when it comes to the valuation of
business enlerprises— either singly, in groups, or by components—we
rightfully regard that as the province of financial analysis and a matter beyond
the scope of financial reporting.

Accounting for Infangible Assets

An earlier part of this report discusses implications for financial reporting
of the rise in the proportion of economic activily attributable to the service
sector. One ramification is its exacetbation of the persistent and vexing
question of how to account for intangible assets. Service businesses are, with
certain notable exceptions (such as telecommunications), generally labor
intensive. These firms have few tangible asseis and in many cases have
balance sheets that under conventional accounting show meager or even
negative owners' equity. In fact, however, they may possess sizable
unrecorded economic resources in the form of anticipated future cash flows.
Yet under iraditional accounting methods, the value of those future cash flows
is recorded only when (1) the cash flows are acquired in a purchase transaction
with an unrelated party or (2) the anticipated cash finally is received. On the
other hand, equity investors and lenders are forced to acknowledge the valt_le
of future cash flows to make sensible investment and lending decisions in
compelition with other rational suppliers of capital. Our views on this matter
are set forth below.

Nature of the Problem.  All economic value must ultimately result in
cash inflows. In fact, it is future cash flows to which both equity investors and



lenders look for a retum on and retum of their investments. Tangible assets
offer an additional measure of comfort in that they usually but not always have
some value at liquidation even though it may be modest. Furthermore, tangible
assets are, without significant exception, acquired in exchange transaclions
with outsiders and, except for business combinations, are usually acquired
individually or in groups of related items. Even when acquired in a basket
purchase, it usvally is not difficult to obtain compelent data 1o allow their
values to be reporied separately. As a result, there ordinarily is little problem
in recording at least the initial values of tangible assets. The same is true of
intangible assets (patents, franchises, eic.) purchased separately.

Major prablems arise with accounting for intangible assets that either are
self-developed or acquired in a business combination. Other problems
emanate from intangibles whose sole value comes from their ability to enhance
the cash flows of a going concem. For example, how are analysts sensibly to
compare two firms, one of which has developed strong brand names through
sizable expenditures that have not been capitalized (say, the Proctor and
Gamble Company), the other of which has grown by purchasing the brand
names of others (say, RJR Nabisco)? How are analysts to find useful the
financial statements of cable television and other media firms that have
significantly negative net worths because they have borrowed against future
cash flows and used the proceeds either to cover reported losses or to make
payments to stockholders?’

Sources of Future Cash Flows. Intangible assets comprise all sorts of
contractual, institutional, and informal arrangements, all of which are
characterized by associated expectations of future cash inflows. Many of these
values are attributable to human beings who are talented, well-trained,
acculturated, or otherwise able and willing to contribute to the enterprise’s
economic well-being. Ammangements between the firm and its employees vary.
Some, mainly senior managers and others who make unique contributions,
serve under individual contracts. Some of those contracts may contain
provisions that activate sizable payments at or after the individual’s separation
from the firm, so-called “golden parachutes™ and similar arrangements. Atthe
other end of the scale are collective bargaining agreemenis with unions and
other worker organizations. In between are the ordinary day-io-day,
month-to-month continuances of employment and service,

%In 1988, King World Productions, syndicators of the television programs Jeopardy, Whee!
of Foriune, and Oprah Winfrey, was reponied to have a $30 million negative net worth forexactly
that reason. Forhes, July 11, 1988, page 83.

_ Broad Topics of Current Impartance to Analysts 47

Future cash flows may also be atiributed to franchises. That term is used
in its broadest sense to include not only contractual arrangements but also other
exclusive accesses to customers. A brand name might be said to be a
“franchise.” For example, one thinks of the position of the Campbeli name in
canned soup, H.J. Heinz in ketchup, or Bayer in aspirin. Anther example of
an exclusivity is a long-established reputation, such as those carried by the
“Big Six" accounting firms, cenain major law firms, advenising agencies,
acluaries, consultants and a host of other professional services providers.
Health care organizations are very likely to have franchises arising from both
their reputations and their proximity to patients. A news distributorship in New
York City’s Manhattan is worth more than one in Manhattan, Kansas. The
examples could go on and on.

In many cases, expectations of future cash flows may dissipate in the face
of competition and are able to continue to flourish only if the enterprise
continues to support them with atiention and expenditures. Altematively,
exclusive rights may be obtained either under law (patents, copyrights,
trademarks, etc.) or by contract. An enterprise may contract for a franchise
(in the narrow sense of the word), for human services, for services to be
provided by another organization, or for the rights to use real assets (plant and
equipment) for limited periods of time.

All of the above are intended to be an illustrative but not exhaustive list of
the incredible variety of sources of intangible value. All of them illustrate
cases of valuable assets that, with two exceplions, are not recorded. One
exception is when the asset is purchased in an arms-length exchange
ransaction. The other exception is for certain lease agreements that meet one
of the conditions that qualify them as capital leases,

A Note on Stock Compensation Cost.  Unlike many other portions of
the financial reporting process, the issue of stock-based compensation has been
one of low priorily to financial analysts and money managers. That is because
stock options, the type of stock compensation plan for which changes in
accounting are contemplated, have no direct consequential effect on the
enterprise’s future cash flows from operations. Therefore, we have not been
proactive in the debate on this issue. That said, however, we do have views
on it that we wish to make known.

First, we strongly believe that stock options have value, that they are used
to compensate managers, and that they should be recognized and measured as
compensation expense in the financial statements, if practicable. We asserted
earlier in this report that financial statements should be complete and that
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lisclosure is not an acceptable substitute for recognition and measurement.

We have yet 10 be persuaded that measurement of stock compensation is
ufficiently reliable as to be practicable. The methods proposed by the FASB
ely on modifications of option valuation models that were developed for quite
ifferent purposes. Furthermore, their extensive use of estimates, including
ut not limited to future stock price volatility, disturbs many of us who as
Ivestment professionals find prediction of stock price volatility a daunting
isk. AIMR’s FAPC has yet to establish its position on the measurement issue,

We are unable in this document to discuss fully the entire stock
ympensation issue. However, we can comment on the often-heard argument
at the dilutive effect of stock options on eamings per share (EPS) makes
dundant the measurement of compensation expense on the income statement.
e disagree. EPS is not an accounting number; it is a financial ratio, a tool of
tancial analysis. The only reason its compultation and disclosure is governed

an accounting siandard is to produce EPS numbers that are comparable
ross enterprises and to preciude the egregious abuses that prevailed before
* standard was issued. The caleulation of EPS requires a numerator
:mings) and a denominator (shares). It is the business of accounting (o
asure and report eamnings, the numerator. And, as we note above, the
:stion of stock compensation is one of income determination, Only after
tis settled need we tum our attention to the question of the number of shares
lual or potential) over which those eamnings are to be spread.

lhe Problem of Goodwill, We are not concemed with the theory of
dwill except as it pertains to the usefulness of financial stalements 1o
lysts. We view goodwill as the amount that an enterprise as a whole is
th in excess of the values of its individual assets less individual liabilities.
are wholly in agreement with the Accounting Principles Board Opinion
16 with respect to the computation of goodwill.® we also agree that there
rreliable valuation of it in the absence of an exchange transaction involving

rolling interest in an entire enterprise. We balk at the notion of goodwil]

g recorded without the authentication of a transaction,

'hat we disagree with is the Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 17,

Most published statements use the term “cost in excess of net nssets acquired” where we
2 ferm “goodwill.” APBO 16 designates goodwill 10 be the excess of cost over the fair
(emphasis added) of all identifiable assets minus the Jair vafue (emphasis added) of
able liabilities. In many other parts of the warld, the term “goodwill” is used 10 designate
red. We believe the [atter definition
ictions but that it js not applicable 10
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which allows purchased goodwill to linger on the balance sheet for up to 40
years. Once it has been established for the recr?rd how much was pgnd to
acquire goodwill, it ought io be removed from the list of as§els forthwith. Th.:n
would remove a major impediment 10 comparing companies whose. economic
statuses are relatively similar but whose balance shet_als arenot. ltisa dras'trc
solution to the problem of noncomparability, but it is preferable to allowing
other firms to record self-developed goodwill, .

One might ask whether a goodwill write-off should appear on the income
statement or go directly to owners’ equity. Regardless of the answer, a mote
appropriate question is where on the incpme slalt.ament or where in thl:s owner’s
equity section it should emerge. We believe that it should‘ap.pear ont e income
statement as part of comprehensive income, and that this is another Il‘lSlal:lCE
that illustrates the need for the FASB to develop standz}rds ff)r reporting
comprehensive income. Cumulalive amounts of goodw:ll’ wn{e-offs all150
should be reported as a separate component of shareholders equity toget :r
with complete disclosure of the changes in those amounts during each of the
periods covered by the financial report.

Contractual Arrangements.  Contractual arrangements are quite
opposite from goodwill. We refer here to what are chmoqu called exer.:ulon;
contracts, those awaiting performance by both parties. Wll}.l the exception o
capital leases, executory contracts are not recorded in ﬁnnncml_statemenls anc:.
are disclosed only when they are material and not in the ordinary course o
business. We have observed the machinations that often accompany !he
classification of lease agreements. We also are overwhelmed by the excessive
volume of exiremely detailed accounting definitions, procedures, and rules

igned to foil such intrigues. o
dem\’?: E:suggest a standargd that would bc far simpler but broader in _1lts]
application. We would require capital;zallon of all executory contracts wit
an initial term in excess of one year.® That would ellml‘nate many of the
problems attendant on lease accounting. More import'fmt, it would place on
the balance sheet at least some of the quite real intangible fissets that do not
now appear. Forexample, in the case of King World Productions (see footnote

- ?-Bolh the IASC and the Accounting Siandards Board in the United l(ingdmrnl have
izati i improvement over
ropased five-year amortization periods. Tha_l would be an enormous /
gmg:i)ce in the United States, but it still is an nrb:lran_/ procedure that lacks theoretical suppont,
We prefer the current U.K. practice of immediate write-off,

fWe understand that the accounting standard we advocate in this pamgra!)h has be.ten
introduced in Australia, and it is reported to be a significant improvement over previous practice

thara
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9), it would aliow recording as assets contractual ri ghts with television stations
with a corresponding liability to produce programming in the future.” We see
that as not significanily different from capital lease accounting. We believe
that employment contracts with executives and key employees also should be
capitalized, even if performance cannot be compelled. If the employee resigns,
the remaining equal amounts of intangible asset and obligation to pay wages
would be removed from the balance sheet. If the employee is discharged, the
remaining intangible asset would be a loss to the extent that the enterprise
continued 1o be liable either for future compensation to the employee or for a
settlement,

Discovery Values. Some years ago, the SEC initiated an experiment with
“reserve recognition accounting” for oil- and gas-preducing firms. It never
got beyond the stage of supplemental data, and it entailed many praclical and
conceptual problems. Yet many analysts found thar the information it
generated, although primitive, was both unique and useful for valuation
purposes. Portions of it remain in the disclosure requirements for oil- and
gas-producing activities under Siatemnent of Financial Accounting Standard
No. 69. AIMR would like to see additional research on reserve recognition
accounting as a prelude to a reconsideration of it as a possible replacement for
current methods.

Both the “successful efforts” and “full cost” methods in use today are
seriously impaired by their implicit assumption that part or all of the cost of
exploration is a decent measure of the value of that which is discovered,
Reserve recognition accounting, if feasible, would bring financial reports
closer to the economic reality of how wealth is created not only in the oil and
gas industry, but also in other types of enterprises in which significant values
ire created by “discovery.” It has the strength of focusing on and reporting
low discovery creales wealth and how other activities, such as production,
efining, and delivery, enhance it.

Costs to Create Intangible Assets. We are not enamored of recording
elf-developed intangible assets unless their values are readily apparent,. We
onsider the cost of creating them to be so often unrelated to their actual value
§ lo be irrelevant in the investment evaluation process. Furthermore, it usually

We donot anticipate that revenue recognition from productive activities would be affecled
 the recognition of the rights and obligations under executory contracts, other than the effect
" recognizing the accretion of interest. In fact, it should not be, The standards for the

easurement of revenue ought 1o be independent of the standards for the recognition of assets
 liabilities.

Broad Topics of Current Importance to Analysts 51

is next to impossible to determine in any sensible or codifiable manner exactly
which cosis provide future benefit and which do not. For example, even
though we would record the contractual amounts of employment agreemer'ns.
we would not go so far as 1o capitalize the costs of training and developing
human resources.

We cannot quarrel with capitalization of the costs of intangible assets that
are purchased. In that case, the cost is the value of the asset: No !u?.mm or
outlandish assumption is required. However, to approach comparability with
firms that have created similar intangibles with their own resources, we
recommend amortization of the purchased variety over economic lives that we
expect will be short. In most cases, a purchased intangible will maintain its
value only if it is tended and cared for by the type of expenditures that create
self-developed ones. A better way of looking at it is that if the purchased
intangible is not maintained, it will be exhausted quickly, not to be replaced
by a self-developed one. .

We reiterate our strong feeling that goodwill should not be recognized
except briefly and only when it is determined by the exchange price for an
entire enterprise,

The Importance of Cash Flows. The discussion above makes it clear
that intangible assets derive their value from the prospects they engender ﬂ_:nr
future cash flows and that it is difficult or impossible in many cases to obtain
a sufficiently reasonable measure of their value to place on the balance sheet.
Therefore, it is important in extremis for financial reports to disclose clearly
the amounts and sources of past cash flows. The ultimate test of the value of
an intangible asset is whether it contributes to the streant of cash entering the
firm. This is exactly the reasoning implicit in Financial Accounting Standard
No. 2, “Accounting for Research and Development Costs.” Beca}lse th.e
expectation of future benefits from research expenditures is so uncertain, lhe'nr
value cannot be recorded in advance. We must wait until they are received in
cash, ‘

Not only do we have to know the source of cash flows from intangible assets
in detail, we also have 1o know how likely it is that they wiil continue and at
what rate. While the flows continue, we need to know what is being done with
them. Are they being distributed or reinvested? Are the reinvestments inkind
or are they a divergence from past practice? Much of the needed cash ﬂo‘w
information requires both disaggregation of historic data and candid
management discussion of the future, We speak later in this report at greater
length about other aspects of the usefulness of the cash flow slatement.



Conclusions about Intangible Assets. Our overall conclusion on
intangible assets can be summarized as follows. It is an area fraught with
difficult conceptual and implementation problems, and we do not have a
monopolistic position with respect to their solutions. We beljeve, however,
that financial reporting can be modified so as at least to recognize more of the
economic reality of intangible assets than it does now. We recommend the
following:

I. Assets and liabilities should be recognized for the present values of future
cash flows when (a) they are the result of contractual arrangements and (b) the
value thus revealed differs significantly from the cost of subsequent
contractual performance (providing the service).

2. The costs associated with steck compensation should be recognized and,
if practicable, be measured as an operating expense of the enlerprise.

3. Goodwill should not be recognized except briefly as it is delermined by
the exchange price for an entire enterprise because (a) its determination {except
at the rarely-encountered moment of an exchange) is the stuff of financial
analysis, not accounting, and (b) its value at that moment is fleeting and has
no necessary or causal relationship to its value in the future.

4. Reserve recognition accounting should be reconsidered, supported by
adequate prior research.

5. Past cash flows are extremely important and should be reported in terms
of (a) their source, (b) the likelihood of their continuance, and {c) the means
to replace them when it becomes necessary.

Financial Statement Dissemination

Financial analysis thrives on information. There is a discussion carlier in
this report of the various information sources employed by financial analysts
and investment rmanagers. For capital allocation to proceed efficiently in our
economy, information must be disseminated both promptly and publicly. This
applies to financial information, both in the form of financial statements and
otherwise, as well as to sources of all nonfinancial data that can affect
perceptions of the value of companies. The two conditions, promptly and
publicly, are complementary. As we explain below, if financial information
is not disclosed to the public promptly, it will become known first to a small
number of privileged “insiders,” only later filtering down (o the public at large.
Those circumstances place an onerous burden on AIMR members, all of whom
are prohibited from using material nonpublic information by the AIMR Code
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of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct,'”

The economic affairs of an enterprise should be reporied in financial
statement form at regular and frequent intervals. A year or six months is too
fong 10 wait for facts, either good or bad, to be disclosed formally. Less than
three months is oo short a period for most businesses to make meaningful
measurements of economic activitys it also would require excessive periodic
assessments of financial status. Thus quarterly interim reporting satisfies
optimally the tradeoff between the maximum length of time an analyst should
have 1o wait to receive a report on an enterprise’s economic status and the
minimum period of time for which meaningful financial measures can be
made.

Our commenis on quarterly reporting herein have two different purposes. )
First, we wish to make clear and emphatic our unanimous opposition to recent
movements by certain individuals and organizations to abolish mandatory
quarterly reporting. Our case lakes two forms: (1) substantiating the reasons
why quarterly reports are vital to analysts and, perforce, for the efficient
functioning of the capital markets, and (2) showing why the arguments made
for the eradication of mandated quarterly reporting are specious.'’ Second,
we wish to explicate how quanterly financial reporting needs to and should be
improved.

"Section 1. C. of the Code of Ethics reads, “The financial analyst shall comply with all
laws and regulations relating 1o the use and communication of material nonpublic information.
The financial analyst’s duty is generally defined as 1o not trade while in possession of, nor
communicate, nonmalterial nonpublic information in breach of a duty, or if the information is
misapproprated.

“Duties under the standard include the follewing: (1) If the analyst acquires such
information as a result ofa special or confidential relationship with the issuer or others, he shall
not communicate the information (other than within the relationship), or take investment action
on the basis of such information, if it violaies the relationship. (2) If the analyst is not in a special
or confidential relationship with the issuer or others, he shall not communicate or act on material
nonpublic information if he knows, or should have known, that such information (a) was
disclosed to him, or would result in a breach of duty, or (b} was misappropriated.

“If such breach of duty exists, the analyst shall make reasonable effonts to achieve public
dissemination of such information.”

"The discussion of quarierly reporting in this paper is necessarily limited. For a more
comprchensive presentation of analysts” views on the subject, see the following publication of
AIMR’s FAPC: Donald Kom, CFA, The Need for Quarterly Financial Reports from Publicly
Owned Companies: A Respouse to the Competitiveness Debate. AIMR, 5 Boar’s Head Lane,
Charlottesville, Virginia 22903 (forthcoming).
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Arguments Supporting Mandated Quarterly Reporting. The most

overwhelmingly important ground for retaining quarterly reporting
requirements is that atluded 10 above, the efficient allocation of capital within
the economy. To repeat, financial analysis thrives on information. The more
quickly it is made available, the faster investment decisions may be made to
direct capital to uses that will maximize overall economic welfare. The ideal
state is one in which economic events and their consequences are made public
as they occur. In fact, most significant economic events become public
knowledge before they are reported in financial statements. Their
consequences, however, are a matter of speculation and disagreement among
analysts—much of it reasonable and rational, but specufation
nonetheless—until financial statements are released. Until that time,
uncerainty exists, carrying with it a concomitant increase in capital cost.

Most economic events affecting business enterprises are individually small
in refation to the overall economic progress and status of the firm. But they
aggregate into numbers of material size. Quarterly reports are the early
warning system of the investment world. Some persons have likened them to
the mile markers on superhighways. Even though they are not as precise in
measurement as mile markers, they at least tell us in what direction the
enterprise is going and roughly how quickly it is proceeding.

To analysts, quarterly reports are not only indicators of progress and status
to date, they also are important resources for projecting the future. A good
part of a financial analyst’s work involves making recommendations or
engaging in transactions based on expectations of future economic
performance. Many analysts are catled upon to make formal and frequent
estimates of future carporate eamings. Quarterly reports are vital, not as much
for what they tell us about the past as to what they tell us about revising our
expectations of the future. When a quarterly report contains a “‘surprise,” there
usually is an immediate reaction in that enterprise’s stock price. The stock
price change reflects a change in value not because the past tumed out
differently than expected but because the market has promptly and alently
changed its expectations of the future.

Deterrence of trading on privileged information is the second major
argument in favor of mandated quarterly reporting. As noted above, the code
of ethics by which AIMR members work prohibits us from trading on material
nonpublic information, and we pride ourselves on our observance of it.
Adherence to that code is facilitated by the frequency with which information
is made public. 1f information is withheld from the public by law, it still will
be disseminated. The process will be slower, and it will trickle down to the
public through a host of privileged insiders and other informed persons who
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realistically could not be expected to refrain from trading on what they know
and others do not. Any attempt to abolish mandated quarterly reporting might
better be termed an effort to promote insider trading.

Quarierly reports may be even more imporiant to individual investors than
they are to investment professionals. We have a large variety of public sources
of information, and we rely on them to confirm in an organized manner out
judgments and the fragmentary data on which they are based. For individual
investors, public reports may well be and usually are their only source ol
reliable information. Those who choose to invest in free enterprise should nol
be denied the information to make those investments in the wisest and besi
informed manner, not only in their own seli-interest but also with the resuit ol
improving economic society as a whole.

Rebuttal of Assertions Against Quarterly Reporting. Much has been
written about the evils of “shorn-termism” and its impact on managemeni
behavior. It is true sometimes that too much emphasis is placed on quarterly
earnings reports. 1t is remarkable that some seemingly sensible people will
make decisions based on insignificant deviations from expected eamings. Or
the other hand, it is quite appropriate for decision makers to revise theil
forecasts of the future based on new and recent information about the past
The point is that stock prices reflect expectations of the future only, and tha
past events do not change stock prices as such; they only change expectations
Too many companies have explicitly or implicitly promised consisten’
quarterly eamings gains; in return, they have received premium price-eaming:
ratios. The need to achieve targel eamings may result in inefficien:
management praclices; in extreme cases, il can result in accounting
manipulation oreven fraud. As long as a business enterprise keeps its investor:
informed of its strategies and plans, it has no reason to fear that its share price
will suffer for devoling its resources to projects that promise high levels ol
long-term profitability. Those who contend otherwise either misunderstand o1
are misrepresenting the functioning of the investment community.

Investors are not onty every bit as interested in long-term results as busines:
managers are, but probably even more so. Consider the respective sources o'
rewards to investment managers and business managements. Investmen
managers are rewarded for overall performance of invesiments vis-a-vis the
market as a whole. Stock prices, as we have explained a [ength, are a direc
function of expectations of long-run future cash flows. Stock prices do no
change because of quarterly past events; they change because of changes ir
long-run expectations of future events. By contrast, consider how many senio
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managers are compensated or otherwise rewarded for short-term performance,
frequently measured by accounting numbers.

As we stated earlier, “short termism’™ might better be dealt with by changes
in the manner of corporate governance and executive compensation schemes,
rather than by eradicating quarterly financial reporting, one of the mosi vital
ingredients in rational and efficient capital allocation. Our system of
continuous disclosure helps make markeis efficient. Annual eamings have
been shown o have limited effect on market prices; three quarierly camings
reports have taken out much of the surprise clement. Reduced frequency of
reporting would be likely to increase the volatility of securities prices around
the time of eamnings reports.

Another argument against quarterly reporting is that in most other countries,
only semi-annual reports are required or traditional. Some persons believe that
reporting requirements in the United States, of which mandated quarterly
filings are only one, prevent forcign companies from listing their shares on
exchanges here. They prophesy that the United States has lost and will
continue to lose stature among the world’s capital markets.

We disagree. No foreign company is prevented by quarterly reporting
requirements from listing its shares here, aithough some may elect not to do
so. Many foreign companies are registered in the United States and we cile,
from among European companies, the exemplary conduct of Royal Dutch
Petroleum Company. 1t has an active financial relations program in the United
States, and its quarterly eamings releases contain detail far beyond British,
Dutch, International Accounting Standards Commitice (IASC), or even U.S.
requirements. The recent decision of Daimler-Benz to be the first German
company to provide the disclosures necessary to be listed on the New York
Stock Exchange is expected to stimulate a number of other major forcign
enterprises to follow suit. As long as capital exists, those who need it will seck
it out.

The United States has the most highly developed and sophisticated systems
of capital market regulation in the world. The SEC has an admirable record
in endeavoring to protect investors, not from the consequences of their own
actions but from those who would take unfair advantage of them. The
disclosure rules in general, and mandaied quarterly reporting in particular, are
an integeal part of the system to protect investors and the free enterprise system
itself. We must be vigilant against those who would subvert that system into
promotion of particular market places. Markets exist to serve inveslors, not
the reverse.
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Quarterly Segment Reporting. The topic of disaggregation is
sufficiently important to merit its own separate discussion in the next part of
this report. Here we wish to discuss only the need for disaggregated
information to be provided more frequently than it is currently. Quarterly
segment reporting is a topic that has been advocated by analysts so consistently
and so avidly over so many years that it has acquired its own acronym, QSR.
1n 1990, the FAPC surveyed member analysts in the United States and Canada;
they responded overwhelmingly in favor of mandated quarterly segment
reporting.'© Not only do analysts need financial reports as frequently as every
three months, they need them in vastly more detail than is mandated today.
Some companies do an excellent job in presenting segment data; others offer
only the bare minimum disclosures required. We seek a much higher standard
to apply 10 the latter.

It is the unusual publicly owned company that today operates with a single
line of business or in a single geographical area. All others require analysis of
their separate parts before an assessment can be made of their value as a whole.
It is absolutely necessary for analysts not 1o have to wait for a full year to
discover, for example, that a manufacturer of heavy equipment suffered major
losses in Latin America earlier in the year. Or that a manufacturing operation
has been losing money, a fact concealed by the excessively good results of its
finance operations. These data nuest be made available more frequently than
is required now,

Integral versus Discrete Approach to Interim Reporting.”®  In 1973,
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 28 (APBO 28) mandated the
integral approach to reporting quarterly earnings. Under that opinion, the
accounting period is defined as being one year, and quarterty periods are to be
regarded as “integral” segments of the annual period. The effect of that
standard is 1o atlow the allocation of period costs across interim periods on the
basis of benefiis received, lime elapsed, or other even more arbitrary bases.
The result has been atlocation that in actuality has ranged from smoothing into
outright manipulation of quarterly camings. Expenses, such as advertising,
research, maintenance, income taxes, and so on, are reported discretely year
by year. Yet on a quarterly basis, they are unabashedly smoothed and often in

ways that appear dubious.

A summacy of the survey results may be obtained by requesting it in writing from AIMR,
5 Boar’s Head Lane, Charlottesville, Virginia 22903,

10ur comments on this topic apply only 10 external financial reporting. There are pood
and proper reasons why seasonal cost allocation should be followed for product cost
determination and other infernal accounting purposes.



In its early years, the FASB placed on its agenda a reconsideration of APBO
28. The FAPC submilted comments strongly supporting the discrete method.
But the project was removed from the FASB’s agenda and APBO 28 continues
lo prevail. We believe that financial analysis is best served by financial
reporting that reports transactions as and when they occur. If there is
smoothing to be done, it is the province of analysts to do it. If there are financial
reporting anomalies that are attributable to seasonality, it is far better to report
and explain them than to conceal them with undocumented smoothing., Thus,
we recommend changing interim reporting from the integral to the discrete
methed.

Auditor Involvement.  The shorter the period of time covered by financial
statements, the lower the need for auditor involvement. The need for
timeliness is inversely related to the length of the reporting period, and
relatively imprecise short-period measurements are difficult to verify. With
periods as short as three months, there seems to be little value to be added from
auditor involvement with the financial reporting process. In fact, such
involverent is likely to diminish timeliness, a primary atiribute of interim
reports. If extemmal auditors are (o be involved, their role should be to assist
enterprises to establish procedures and routines that minimize the time taken
to get reports prepared and lessen the probability of material errors or
misslaiements.

In fact, we believe new consideration ought 10 be given to the audit process
and function. One of the comments we received on the exposure drafi of this
report makes the point bluntly: “. . . We agree that outside auditors might better
spend their time assessing the effectiveness of financial and managerial control
systerns rather than performing routine audits.” We advocaie a new and
different approach to the periodic audit of financial statements.

First, we advocate the continuous involvement of the auditor in the process
that generates the financial information an enterprise disseminates externally,
The emphasis is on involvement in the process rather than only with the output
or resudts. We are particularly concerned that the auditor understand and (at
a minimum) evaluate the judgments and estimates that enter into financial
reports.

Former SEC Chief Accountant John C. Burton once put forth the notion of
an “auditor of record,” a firm that would take responsibility for the quality and
content of an enterprises’s publicly released financial information well beyond
the mere annual blessing of management’s representations in the form of
financial statements.

Second, we envision external auditors being substantially more involved
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than at present with the functioning of the internal systems that produce
financial data for external consumption. That involvement could well make
more effective use than at present of internal audit and control staff and
procedures. In short, we believe that too much attention at present is paid to
the numbers and too little to the process that produces them,

We would expect our recommendations, if followed, to have the following
results. Audit costs may increase or decrease, but the risk of audit failures
would decrease. We expect that even if audit cost were to increase, it would
be partially or wholly offset by the decreased cost of capital resulting from
higher quality and more reliable information being made available 10 the
financial markets. We also envision instances in which much of the increase
in audit activity could be provided by an internal audit team elevated in size
and status.

Disaggregated Financial Statements

Financial analysts have consistently over the years requested financial
statement data disaggregated to a much greater degree than it is now. Most
analysts have found the provisions of Financial Accounting Standard No. 14,
“Financial Reporting for Segments of a Business Enterprise,” (FAS 14, issued
in 1976), helpful but inadequate. This situation has been exacerbated by the
issuance in 1987 of Financial Accounting Standard No. 94, *“Consolidation of
All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries” (FAS 94). That statement has the good
effect of presenting an overall report on complex economic entities and brings
onto the consolidated balance sheet a large amount of debt that previously had
not appeared there. s cost has been the loss of much detailed information
about subsidiary operations different in character from those of the parent
company.

In our previous discussion of quarterly segment reporting, we alluded to the
needs of analysts for disaggregated financial data. That need is more than
“necessary.” It is vital, essential, fundamental, indispensable, and integral to
the investment analysis process. Analysts need to know and understand how
the various components of a multifaceted enterprise behave economically.
One weak member of the group is analogous to a section of blight on a piece
of fruit; it has the potential to spread rot over the entirety. Even in the absence
of weakness, different segments will generate dissimilar streams of cash flows
to which are attached disparate risks and which bring about unique values.
Thus, without disaggregation, there is no sensible way to predict the overall
amounts, timing, or risks of a complete enterprise’s future cash flows. There
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is little dispute over the analytic usefulness of disaggregaled financial data.

There is, however, much controversy over how disaggregated data should
be reported. Should it be classified by legal entity, line of business, geographic
area, type of customer served, aclivity (manufacturing, marketing, etc,),
Standard Industrial Code number, or any one of many other possibilities? In
what degree of detail should it be presented? How exiensive can detailed
disclosures be made before financial statement users are so overcome with
minutia that they not only cannot comprehend them, but they also lose sight
of the overall portrayal of the enterprise?

Reporting How the Business is Managed. FAS 14 requires disclosure
of line-of-business information classified by “industry segment.” lis definition
of segment is necessarily imprecise, recognizing that there are numerous
practical problems in applying that definition to different business entities
operating under disparate circumstances. That weakness in FAS 14 has been
exploited by many enterprises to suit their own financial reporting purposes.
As a result, we have seen one of the ten largest firms in the couniry report all
of its operations as being in a single, very broadly defined indusiry segment.
Al the other extreme, there is a publicly owned provider of funeral services
that reports in three segments: funeral services, caskets and other merchandise
sales, and cemetery operations. We also are aware of and sympathetic with
the problems some enterprises have in colleciing and reporting data that
conform to FAS |4 categories because their businesses are organized and
managed differently.

In an ideal world, an enterprise would report disaggregated data in a format
that coincides with and reflects how it is organized and managed. It also would
disclose the source and nature of risks that are expected to affect, either
positively or negatively, the amounts and timing of its future cash flows. These
risks may be associated with geography, product lines, markets, or a variety
of other classifications. The enterprise would reveal the boundaries between
its assorted legal-entity constituents, thus divulging restrictions on the claims
of creditlors and movements of cash within the entity. Finally, all the
disaggregated daia disclosed would mirror the way the business is orgamized
and managed, while at the same time providing comparability to the
disaggregated data of other enterprises.

In the real world, of course, not all of these objectives can be achieved, They
require trade-offs and choices. From the standpoint of financial analysis, we
believe priority should be given to the production and dissemination of
financial data that reflects and reports sensibly the operations of specific
enterprises. 1f we could obtain reports showing the details of how an individual
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business firm is organized and managed, we would assume more responsibility
for making meaningful comparisons of those data to the unlike data of other
firms that conduct their business differently. We realize the extraordinary
difficulty of mandating a disclosure standard while maintaining the flexibility
of each enterprise 1o present its own circumstances and organization, but we
believe it to be a commendable undertaking.

Research In Progress and Prognosis forChange. The topic of
disaggregated information is so important to AIMR that it provided the FASB
partial funding to support an important research project published in {992,
“Disclosure of Disaggregated Information.” This study was followed in May
1993 by an Invitation to Comment, “Reporting Disaggregated Information by
Business Enterprises,” in which the views of all parties, including those of
financial analysts, are sought on a variety of specific issues pertaining to
disaggregation.

We commend the FASB for the pace at which the disaggregation project is
now moving. 1l sometimes seems as if the projects that promise to produce
information of greatest use to financial analysts are the most interminable.
There is no reason for delay or procrastination in giving altention to this subject
by (1) standard setters, the FASB, and the Intemnational Accounting Standards
Committee; (2) capital market regulators, the SEC, and the International
Organization of Securities Commissions; and (3) the accounting profession,
the AICPA, and the International Federation of Accountants.

Consaolidating Financial Statements. Although we support the
requirement that consolidated financial statements be the basis for general
purpose financial reporting, we lament the concomitant loss of detailed
information about an economic enierprise’s constituent corporate entity
components. Currently, published summary data on consolidated subsidiaries
are insufficient for analysts to be able to deconsolidate them with sufficient
assurance of accuracy. We seek the best of all worlds: consolidating financial
statements, showing separately the major corporate entities comprised by the
whole. Complex entities often prepare these for use by lenders. Since the
issuance of FAS 94, a smali number of companies have even included them in
their published financial reports. There seems to be little reason why they
could not be required of all companies. The cost to prepare them would be
trivial, except perhaps for additional audit fees caused by a lower materiality
threshold. We urge the FASB to consider requiring them.
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Income and Cash Flow Statements

Over the span of the FASB’s existence, ils pronouncements have become
more oriented 1o the statement of financial position. This is meant as an
observation, not criticism.

Perhaps the most apt example is Financial Accounting Standard No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes™ (FAS 109). It fixes its attention on identifying
at a point in time those transactions and events that are deemed to have future
lax consequences, then measuring the effect on financial position of the
benefits and obligations resuhting from them, Their effect on periodic income
is calculated only as the necessary consequence of those financial position
assessments.  This is an approach opposite from the now-superseded
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 11 (APBO 11), in which the
objective was to measure the deferred portion of the current period’s provision
for income taxes, with resultant balance sheet residuals called deferred tax
tabilities and/or assets.

We applaud the efforts and accomplishments of the FASB in making
balance sheet amounts more meaningful than before. Prior 1o FAS 109—and
its short-lived predecessor, Financial Accounting Standard No. 96 (FAS 96),
deferred tax accounts on the balance sheet had little meaning, because they
were remnants of past income statements: today, they depict amounts that an
enterprise expects o result in future cash flows. However, as FAS 109 and
various other standards have been promulgated, we feel that the development
of the income statement has been neglected. We also feel as if more could be
done to make cash flow statements more accurate and more useful to analysts.
The purpose of this section is to summarize our views on those matters with
respect to (1) the income statement, primarily to summarize information
scattered throughout earlier pans of this report, and (2) cash flow statements
to introduce new material.

Comprehensive Income. The FASB's Statement of Financial
Accounting Concepis No. 6, “Elements of Financial Statements,” paragraph
70, defines comprehensive income as follows:

Comprehensive income is the change in the equity of a business
enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and
circumstances from nonowner sources. It includes all changes in
equity during a period except those resulting from investments by
owners and distributions to owners.
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We refer to comprehensive income several times above and have urged the
FASB to construct the bridge from concept to standard. It is needed for better
and more useful financial reporting in several areas.

Firsl i5 reporting the impact of changing market values and their effect on
the wealth of the enterprise. One of the primary obstacles to acceptance of
mark-to-market accounting is how it would rmagnify the volatility of reported
eamnings. If both unrealized and realized changes in market value could be
reveated for what they are, separately from the results of operating activities,
we as analysts would have more information than we do currently, and we
might avoid the stock market palpitations that frequently occur because of the
information content of a single aggregated number called net income or
carnings per share.

Second is lo have the goodwill write-off appear as a component of income
separate from the operating activities of the enterprise. Earlier, we suggested
that goodwill should be written off at the time it is acquired; we did not opine
as to whether the write-off should appear on the income statement or go directly
to owners’ equity. If the concept of comprehensive income were developed,
we would expect the write-off to appear separate from the operating activities.

There are other reasons supporting development of the concept of
comprehensive income. The FAPC has consistently supported the
all-inclusive income statement format, known colloquially as the “clean
surplus™ approach. We consider income to include all of an enterprise’s wealth
changes except those engendered from transactions with its owners. We have
profound misgivings about the increasing number of wealth changes that elude
disclosure on the income statement. Yet individual items may be interpreted
differently. That calls for a display of comprehensive income that allows
components of different character to be seen and evaluated separately. Some
examples follow.

B Unrealized losses on portfolio of marketable securities held for sale.
FAS 115 requires the cumulative net unreatized loss on marketable securities
held for sale to be reported directly and separately in the owners’ equity section
of the balance sheet. That treastment has the effect of reporting the portfolio
on the balance sheet at market value but recognizing gain and loss on the
income statement strictly on the cost basis of valuation. There seems to be no
conceptual basis for such accounting, nor does it serve well the interests of
financial stalement users. We consider unrealized security gains and losses 10
be different in character from realized ones, however, and even more so from
other corporale operating activities. Such gains and losses should be included
in comprehensive income but displayed in such a manner so that they may be
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evaltuated on their own. This is an important matter to be considered by the
FASB, the IASC, other standard-setting bodies, and the SEC as they propel
corporale reporting ever nearer to mark-to-markel accounting.

B Accuruated net gain or loss from the translation of foreign
currencies. Financial Accounting Standard No. 52 (FAS 52) changed the
criteria and methodology for the translation of foreign currency and at the same
time mandated that the gain or loss from using the current rate method of
translation bypass the income statement until such time as the foreign operation
was wholly or partially disposed of. We must observe that these are not frue
gains and losses. They are merely the amounts by which the balance sheet is
thrown out of balance because the assels and liabilities of a foreign operation
are translaied at the current rate, but the owners’ equity accounts are not.
Although it is difficult to visualize those gains and losses as legitimate
components of inceme, under the translation methodology specified by FAS
52, we have no other choice.'*

B Unusual and nonrecurring items, restructuring charges, and similar
items. This classification could be broadened well beyond the current category
of extraordinary items. It also should be presented in some detail. Some of
the items in this group are now presented as extraordinary and shown net of
tax. Others are set out as separate line items in income from continuing
operations. Still others, such as the effect of lifo liquidations, are ascertainable
only by scrutinizing the footnotes. Individual companies tend to have
idiosyncratic definitions of what is unusual or nonrecurring as well as eccentric
thresholds of materiality. Analysts often are confounded by all of this as they
attempt to make comparisons between and among companies, particularly over
a time span of several years.

The above list is not exhaustive, but it should be sufficient to support our
case. We have not suggested the form or content one or more standards on
this subject should take. That is a task for the standard-setters themselves. Our
more modest objective merely is to establish the compelling need for attention
to this topic. Financial statement users need in one place all the data reporting
an enterprise’s economic activity, which they then may sort out to suit their
own purposes. The resulting income statement format needs codification of
its structure to ensure that like items are classified similarly by different

Mwe note here the lack of conceptual basis for the current rate methad. Furthermore, it
docs not provide information useful in analysis because of its untoward characienstic of
producing accounting numbers that resist interpretation. Although we did not strongly oppose
the issuance of FAS 52, we wish 1o make our current feelings known. Nevertheless, important
as that matter is, it is not directly relevant to the point we are making here about comprehensive
income.
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companies. Only then will analysts be able with increased confidence to make
many of the comparisons so vital to their work.

The Statement of Cash Flows. Many financial analysts have mixed
feelings about Financial Accounting Standard No. 95, “Statement of Cash
Flows" (FAS 95). We are gratified that it was issued, because it mandates that
a cash flow statement be included in a complete set of financial statements and
because it codifies the form and content of that statement. FAS 95 brought to
a welcome demise the old statement of changes in financial position, and il
eliminated many of the variations in practice among companies that did publish
cash flow statements,

Since the issuance of FAS 93, the cash flow stalements that have appeared
in published financial reports have been much less useful in analysis than we
might have expected. First, almost no public company presents its cash flows
from operations using the direct format; virtually all use the indirect format.
We have learned since the issuance of FAS 95 that it is extremely difficult or
impossible in most cases for financial statement users to calculate reasonable
estimates of pross operating cash flows (direct method) using only the data
provided in financial reports in the indirect format.'® A second deficiency is
the imprecision with which FAS 95 appears to be applied. There is need of an
authoritative literature to resolve a variety of ambiguous situations as well as
to forestall the many detectable errors we have encountered in published cash
flow statements since FAS 95 was issued. We can only speculate on the
number of undetectable errors that must also occur.

The Direct Method of Reporting Cash Flow from Operations. F A S
95 states, in paragraph 27, *'In reporting cash flows from operating activities,
enterprises are encouraged to report major classes of gross cash receipts and
gross cash payments and their arithmetic sum—the net cash flow from
operaling activilies (the direct method).”

Exposure Draft 36 of the Intemnational Accounting Standards Commitiee
Proposed Statement “Cash Flow Stalements™ slaies, in paragraph 23,
“Enterprises are encouraged to report cash flows from operating activities
using the direct method.”

Both standard-setting bodies cite the direct method as the preferred method
of presenting cash flows from operations. Invesiment professionals

BFor that reason, we made clear our position that only the direct method should be allowed
in our comments to the JASC in letters dated July 25, 1990 re. “Statement of Pnnciples—Cash
Flow Statements” and January 20, 1992 re. “E36—Proposed Statemest of Intemnational
Accounting Standards, Cash Flow Siusterments.”
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represented by AIMR have expressed their desire for the direct method. We
note that Robert Morris Associates, representing more than 15,000 bank loan
and credit officers in the United Stales, has adamantly advocated the direct
method.'® Despile these overwhelming expressions of support for the direct
method by virtually all professional users of financial statements in the United
States and Canada, it is the indirect method that appears almost without
exception in published financial reports.

Two contradictory reasons are given to support the indirect method over the
direct. First, it is asseried by some that the specific items used in the indirect
method to reconcile income to net cash flow from operations can easily be
evaluated by an analyst as to the individual revenues and expenses to which
they apply. It is said that the revenues can then be adjusted to determine gross
cash collected, the expenses to compute gross cash outflows. Second, it is
asserted by many reporting firms that they do not keep their records in such a
way as to permit reporting operating cash flows in gross amounts, thereby
making the direct method prohibitively expensive 1o implement.

With respect to the first argument, as a practical matter, there seldom is
sufficient detail given in published financial statements of the individual
reconciling ilems to make the adjustments suggested. More often than not, a
muttitude of individual items appear in the operating section of the cash flow
statement as a single number described as “Other,” “Other assets and
liabilities—net,” “Other noncash credits,” “Other, net,” “Other
adjustments—net,” etc. In many cases, the level of detail presented in an
enterprise’s income statement is inconsistent with that in the cash flow
statement, and it is consequently impossible to make all of the necessary
adjustments. Finally, if the reconciling items “can easily be evaluated by an
analyst,” they can even more easily (and accurately) be evaluated by the
reporting enterprise. Not only that, but evaluation and adjustment, if done by
the reporting enterprise, need be done only once, thus saving the greater efforts
of and lesser accomplishments by the scores of individual analysts who may
follow that firm.

The second argument, professing the high cost of preparing direct format
cash flow statements, also is unpersuasive. First, it directly contradicts the first
argument, that conversion from direct to indirect is easy, even by analysts
relying only on publicly available data. Second, one must ask who bears the
costs of preparing financial statements. The costs are paid out of general
corporate funds and, ultimately, are borne by the firm’s investors—that is, the

15Robert Morris Associates’ position is set forth in public letiers 1o the FASB dated Apnl
21, 1986: Scptember 27, 1986; February 7, 1987; July 14, 1987; and January 5, 1989.
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users of financial statements. If financial statement users demand information
in a particular form, then it should be provided. If the costs of providing such
information truly are prohibitive, the demand will cease as investors refuse to
absorb the concomitant decrease in the value of the securities they hold.

A reasonable solution to this apparent impasse is not unattainable. Although
the FASB has not seen fit to mandate the direct method, and neither has the
1ASC, both endorse it as the preferable method. Nothing other than inertia
prevents progressive business enterprises that seek favor with analysts from
adopting the direct method. We reiterate: Not only is the direct method
permitted, users of financial statlements preferit. As professional associations
represenling financial statement preparers and their auditors consider how they
may better provide information that is valuable to financial siatement readers,
they should take it upon themselves to champion the direct method of reporting
cash flow from operating activities.

Need for an Authoritative Literature on Cash Flow. The need for such
a body of authoritative literature manifests itself in two ways. Firsl, there are
a variety of accounting maiters in which the correct treatment on a cash flow
statement is not readily apparent. Inasmuch as cash flow is factual, totally
exchange-based, and devoid of allocations, these are entirely questions of
classification. Some examples:

B Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 specifies that the income
statement shall present discontinued operations separately from continuing
operations and sets up appropriate definitions and procedures.” " 1t is unclear
from FAS 95 whether cash flows from operating activities should similarly be
classified into two distinct componenits. 1f the response is affirmative, o what
extent and how should taxes paid be allocated between the components of
operating activity on the cash flow statement? This question is similar 1o that
of intraperiod tax allocation on the income statement.

B FAS 94 requires the consolidation of all majority-owned companies.
Many of these are finance and insurance subsidiaries. Some are integral parts
of the parent enterprise’s operating activities, others finance and insure
primarily unrelated customers, and slill others are a blend. To what extent,
and following what crileria, are the cash flows related to their receivables and
payables to be treated as part of operating activities, as opposed to flows from
investing or financing?

1"Recent research has suggested that these definitions and procedures are insufficient 1o
prevent biased applications of them. See Donna Rapaccioll and Allen Schiff, “Reporting Sales
of Segments Under APB Opinion No. 30", Accounting Horizons, December 1991, pp. 53-9.
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B  Certain enterprises manufacture products that may either be sold or
converted to use as plant assets of the enterprise itself. Examples include
certain real estate developments and computers that may be either rented (via
operating leases) or sold. How is the cash spent to produce these items to be
classified (operating or investing) when the enterprise itself does not know
their final disposition until after they have been produced?

There are many other similar questions of classification, but we wish only
to illustrate the nature of our concemns.

The second need for authoritative literature is as a bulwark against the
myriad errors we have seen in published cash flow statements. We can only
speculate about whether they are the result of ignorance, thoughtlessness, or
carclessness. The following examples are illustrative.”

I. One firm showed as a cash outflow from financing activitics the total
amount of $30,197 of dividends declared. The $325 increase in its dividends
payable account was added 10 net income in the computation of cash flow from
operations,

2. Another corporation included among its investing cash outflows for
capital expenditures (and among its financing cash inflows from fong-term
borrowing) the amounts of assets and liabilities recorded at the inception of
capital leases during the year.

3. Several companies show bank overdrafts as current fabilities on their
balance sheets. These companies then place the amount of the change in that
liability on the cash flow statement as an adjustment of income in the
calcutation of cash tflow from operations. That treatment is tantamount to
making the cash flow statement directly contradictory to the balance sheet.
The balance sheet asserts that payments have been made by overdrawing a
bank account: the cash flow statement asserts that the payments were not made.
One of those statements has to be false and misleading.

4. A firm states in the notes to its financial statements that it “acquired 168
businesses, all of them accounted for as purchases, for $303,601,000 in cash
and notes.” The cash flow statement shows a cash payment of $303,601,000.
The amount paid for with notes should not have been reported on the cash flow
statement; it should have appeared as supplementary data.

5. That same firm shows an increase in its “Investment in a
less-than-majority-owned affiliate” from a beginning balance of zero o an
ending balance of $249,718. The firm's cash flow statement shows a

"B ecause errors of the type we cite are so frequently encountered in published cash flow
slalements, We see no point in naming and possibly embarrassing the individoal companics
responsible for the examples cited below.
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deduction from net income for $5,017 of equity eamings from the investment;
yet the supplementary data state that the cost of the investment in the affiliate
(none paid in cash) was $249,718.

6. A third violation by that same firm is its deduction from income in
computing cash flow from operations of an affer-tax gain of $11,354
recognized from certain nonmonetary transactions, even though the gain was
properly reported on the income stalement in its pre-fax amount,

The solution to the sorts of problems listed above is two-faceted. First is
the need for detailed procedural guidance to the preparation of cash flow
statements well beyond that incorporated in intermediate accounting
textbooks. Second, both the preparers and auditors of financial statements
need to educate their personnel. We deliberately use the word *education,”
not “training.” We believe that instruction in procedural matters is secondary
to an understanding of the role of the statement of cash flows as a major
financial statement and the philosophy of its system of classification into
Pperalions. investing, and financing. We suspect that in practice it frequently
is prepared in haste as a derivative of the audited balance sheet and income
statement without due consideration for its unique and eminent position among
the major financial statements.

Transition to New Standards

Fundamental analysts use data bases of one sort or another, The data bases
may be commercial in origin or they may be assembled by the analysts
themselves. They may be accessed electronically or they may be in hard copy
form. They may be extensive or limited in scope. The point is that they are
used to make comparisons between and among firms and over time periods
several years in length. The validity of those data bases may be enhanced in
one sense—but certainly impaired in another—each time a new accounting
standard is issued. As some or all enterprises adopt the new standard, it ought
to have the effect of improving interfirm comparisons by eliminating
differences attributable only to accounting. But it is certain to destroy the
continuity of previous periods’ accounting numbers with those of the present
and future.

It should be apparent that AIMR does not oppose the issuance of new
accounting standards. Indeed, much of this report is devoted to suggesting changes
that we feel would improve the usefulness of financial reports. Our objective in
this section is to advocale methods of transition to new siandards that would
precipitate minimum disruption to the continuity of data analysts use.
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We have sincere reservations about the transition methods and procedures
specified by FASB pronouncements issued in recent years. Perhaps the
epitome of our concemn came with the issuance of Statement of FAS 96 in
{987, foliowed by FAS 100 in 1988, FAS 103 in 1989, FAS 108 in 1991, and
FAS 109 in 1992. FAS 96, which set new standards for reporting income taxes
in financial statements, permitted two transition methods and a three-year
transition period. An enterprise could choose to adopt FAS 96 in 1987, 1988,
or 1989. The adopting enterprise could choose 1o restate’as many of its prior
years as it wished, or it could choose to place the entire cumulative retroactive
effect of the change on the income statement of the year it adopted FAS 96.
FAS 100 extended the effective date of FAS 96 from 1989 to 1990; FAS 103
extended it further through 1992; and FAS 108 extended it through 1993,
Finally, FAS 96 was superseded by FAS 109, which also has a 1993 effective
date and continues the choice of transition methods allowed by FAS 96,

We realize that there were special circumstances attaching to the
replacement of FAS 96 by FAS 109, but the impact on analysis was
devastating. Siarting in 1987 and continuing through 1993, seven full years,
we have had to compare companies using up to three different paradigms of
accounting for income taxes. Many firms continued to follow the provisions
of APBO |1 and persisted in doing so until forced to switch in fiscal year 1993.
Others adopted FAS 96 but postponed making the transformation to FAS 109,
Still others were early adopters of FAS 109. Furthermore, at the time that firms
adopted FAS 109, there still were differences in the disposition of the
cumulative effect of the change on prior years’ income. Not until 1994, when
analysts receive 1993 annual reports, will they have comparable data on
income taxes among all firms, And it will be sometime into the 21st century
before analysts will have a sufficient number of comparable years of data to
do sensible time-series analysis on reported income lax numbers.

If FAS 96 and its successors were an isolated instance, our cause for
complaint would be modest. But itis not. FAS 106, “Employers Accounting
for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,” has resulied in perhaps the
most sizable cumulative adjustments in the history of standards setting.
Companies adopling that standard also have been given considerable time
(1990-93 for domestic plans; 1990-95 for foreign plans) and a choice of
methods (immediate or defayed recognition of the transition amounts). In one
way, FAS 106 is much more destructive of data base construction than FAS
96 and its successors. Delayed recognition of the transition amount will extend
over 20 years subsequent 1o adoption of the statement. For enterprises
adopting it for domestic plans in 1993, their financial statements may include
this vestige of the past until the beginning of fiscal year 2013. It will take an
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astule and perspicacious financial statement reader to abstract from the
footnote data required by FAS 106 the facls necessary to adjust financial
statemnents to be comparable. Those who rely on commercial data bases do
not even have the opportunity to make such adjustments.

1t seems as if the FASB has tended in recent years towards longer transition
periods and more choice on the part of business firms on how to account for
mandated changes in accounting principles. We understand that the
motivation for such flexibility may well originate from the complexily of
cenain recent standards as well as the magnitude of their effect on financial
statements. From the standpoint of financial analysis, recent relaxation by the
FASB of quick and strict transition procedures is untimely. Increased
availability and use of electronically accessed financial data bases, with the
promise of the SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering and Retrieval scheme to be
widely available soon, reduces substantially opportunities for analysts to
fashion the tedious adjustmenis necessary to make financial statements
comparable. Furthermore, analysts should not need to make such adjustments.
Long transition periods and multiple methods may be politically prudent, but
they dramatically reduce the usefulness of financial statements.

We would be better served if those who set standards and disclosure rules
would designate a common date for adoption of a new accounting standard and
a final date for complying with a new disclosure requirement. We urge those
dates to be as soon as feasible afier the new rules are promulgated and
published. Siandard setters and capital market regulators need to gather
evidence on that feasibility as part of their normal processes. The collection
of evidence needs to go beyond merely hearing the assertions of business
enterprises about their anticipated difficulties in applying the prospective rules.
As we nole below, field testing often can be a vital ingredient in making
transition more rapid and productive for alf.

Most important of all 10 financial analysts is the need for a single method.
We have observed, without surprise, that the existence of choices has
introduced bias into financial reponts. Any sensible financial manager, given
a choice of methods, must select the one that makes his or her firm look best,
if for no other reason than not to appear irrational to those who provide capital
to the firm. As a result, we tend to see cumulative effect credits appear on
current and future-period income statements, while equivalent debits go
directly to owners’ equity. Given the equality of debits and credits, a new debit
1o the past can only result in equal credit to current or future periods, sometimes



72 Pnancial Kephariing (n ne 1 YYus dia peyona

revealed and sometimes not."”

A transition method that requires a restalement of prior periods to the new
accounting principle is generally preferable to alternative methods.
Presumabiy, a change in standards is promulgated to effect improvement. If
prior periods’ reports can be restated to achieve those same improvements, we
will have new information about the past. More importantly, restatement gives
financial analysts a head start in constructing a new time-serics data base.
Restatement starts us off under the new standard with three years of data under
the new accounting principle. Our one reservation with respect 10 restatement
is that it is not in accordance with the concept of comprehensive income, which
we advocate and promole throughout this report. As a practical matler,
however, the comparability attained through restatement for accounting
principles changes is more important o most analysts than is strict adherence
to our support of comprehensive income.

In some cases, it is impossible or impractical to restate the past for the effect
of a newly issued financial accounting standard. Examples that come to mind
are changes resulting from the issuance of Financial Accounting Standard No.
34, “Capitalization of Interest Cost™; FAS 52, “Foreign Currency Translation™;
Financial Accounting Standard No. 76, “Extinguishment of Debt” (FAS 76),
and a variety of amendmenis and changes lo existing accounting standards.”
In those cases, the cumulative retroactive effect of the change, if it can be
computed, should be reported on the current period’s income statement
separately and with full disclosure. We are unable to perceive conceptual
grounds for carrying any such cumulative effect forward and, even worse,
using it to smooth the reported incomes of future periods. If the later
procedure is mandated or allowed anyway, its effect on the income of each
future period affected not only must be disclosed, it should additionally be

¥we are fascinated by the enterprise that elected early adoption of FAS 96 via restalement,
thus reducing its retained eamings by hundreds of millions of dollars of “derccognized” deferred
income tax benefits. In subsequent years, that firm’s unrecognized deferred tax benefits
decreased, thus reducing its income lax provision and increasing its net income. That same firm
then elected carly adoption of FAS 109, but chose to recagnize ihe cumulative retroactive effect
of the change, the recognition of previously “derecognized” 1ax benefits, us an adjustment of
income in the year of the change. As a result, all of the hundreds of millions of deferred tax
benefits “derecognized” at January 1, 1987, ended up appearing on the income stalement twice.
We do not fault the financial managers. They did what they had 1o do. We do regret the
opportuaity being available 1o them.

e fact that we cite FAS 34, FAS 52 and FAS 76 as examples in which restaiement
would not be advisable is in no way related to the fact that cach of these is a standard whose
isspance financial analysts believe worsened mither than improved the quality and usefulness
of financial reporting.
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presented separately from events of the current year or highlighted to point it
out clearly to otherwise unsuspecting readers of the financial report.

In some cases, a new standard may be applied only to transactions
originating after a specified date, for reasons that either are practical or
political. We believe such treatment is justified only in rare cases and carries
with it a responsibility on the part of reporting enterprises to inform financial
statement users of the extent to which that new standard has affected them as
long as there are material amounts carried forward from the past under different
accounting.

A Note on Field Testing. AIMR's FAPC has on several occasions
communicated directly to the FASB its support of field 1esting in the
standard-setting process. Ficld tests can be enormously heipful in identifying
implementation problems that neither preparers nor users of financial
statements could have anticipated at the concepiual level. We commend those
enterprises and their auditors who have volunteered their time, funds, and
efforts to test proposed standards in the past, and we encourage others {0
participate in the future.

AIMR also is enthusiastic about the prospect of certain financial analysts
and other financial stalement users participating in field tests. We believe they
could add an important and heretofore absent dimension 1o the tesling process.
To date, field tests have concentrated on the feasibility of preparer
implementation of proposed new accounting methods. Financial statement
users would be able to comment on the value of the information generated by
those methods. They could also recommend the forms of presentation that
would best serve effective dissemination of the information contained in the
data. Specifically, they could provide expert opinion as to how well the new
methods create knowledge that is useful to the process of valuation.

If investment professionals were to participate in field tests, safeguards
would be nceded to protect the confidentiality of the information beinﬁ
generated. The first of these is Section 11 C of the AIMR Code of Ethics.”
Only AIMR members who would not find field test information useful in their
trading or related activities could participate. Eligible testers would include a
variety of working analysts as well as other AIMR members, such as academics
and others not currently or directly participating in capital market transactions.
Additionally, there are undoubtedly many circumstances in which additional
practicing analysts could participate without having 1o know the identity of
individual Neld test hirms or (sometimes) their industry affiliation. Finally,

2l5ee footnote 10.
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there would have to be ways to assure the business enterprises participating in
field tests that the safeguards were operative and effective.

The Standard-Setting Process

AIMR has long been an active participant in the standard-setting process,
both in the United States and internationally. It has presented ils views in
writing and in testimony more frequently than any other organization of
financial siatement users. Anthony T. Cope, former co-chairman of AIMR's
Advocacy Steering Committee and long-time FAPC member, was appointed
to the FASB for an initial term beginning July 1, 1993. Frank Block, long-time
member and former chairman of the FAPC, served one term as a FASB board
member. Patricia McConnell, current chairman of the FAPC, is a member of
the Board of the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) and
recently was replaced by Peter C. Lincaln, another FAPC member, on the
Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council that advises the FASB on
matiers it has currently and prospectively under consideration. Gerald 1.
White, former long-time chairman of the FAPC, serves on the 1ASC Advisory
Board and frequently presents the views of financial analysts on financial
reporting matters. George H. Boyd 111 currently occupies the “financial analyst
chair™ as a trustee of the Financial Accounting Foundation, the organization
that sponsors and supports the FASB. Financial analysts almost always are
represented on task forces organized by the FASB to prepare discussion
documnents on agenda items. Financial apalysts from the United States
frequently have served on IASC steering committees (similar to FASB task
forces).

With the exception of the two full-time FASB members, all individual
analysts cited above serve as volunteers and render their services io the
standard-setting process it addition to, not as part of, their regular work as
analysts, money managers, research directors, academics, etc. Their
dedication is commendable. Furthermo e, they have the task of representing,
with both time and funding in meager supply, the majority of professional users
of financial statements. Their views deserve 1o be heard, even though they are
outnumbered and outspent by the legions of business firms, industry and
business policy associations, large auditing firms, and professional
associations of accountants, many of which have full-time, paid staffs 10
research and advocate their views on financial reporting matters.

National Standard-Setting for Global Financial Markets. A s dis -
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cussed in some detail earlier in this report, financial markets have transcended
national boundaries and the sovercignly of individual states. Accounting
standards continue to be promulgated locally with all of the expected
chauvinism, conflicts, cultural biases, and other ingredients of heterogeneity.
The IASC faces a huge task as it strives to sct forth a common set of standards
without the authority to enforce adherence to them. Given the degree of
disputation in any one country when major new standards are proposed,
international disagreement can be expected to be a multiple of that.

We have been favored in the United States and Canada with bodies of
accounting standards and financial disclosure requirements that are generally
more comprehensive than elsewhere in the world. We also have single sets of
accounting standards that, with few exceptions, apply equally to all enterprises,
large and small, public and private. Standard-setting generally has been done
in the private sector, although not without intensive oversight and occasional
supersession by government. In many countries, accounting standards are set
by law or government fiat, somelimes by law intended primarily to serve
purposes (such as tax assessment) only peripherally related to financial
reporting. Some countries set rigid legal requirements for company accounts
but allow more flexibility for consolidated financial reports, Japan and France
being useful examples. Some countries have written and agreed-upon
concepiual frameworks 1o support their standards; in others, their frameworks
are implicit only.

All of these differences, until somehow resolved, have certain deleterious
consequences. Until such time as there are universal financial reporting
precepts, the risks associated with cross-border financing will remain high.
Stock exchange listings will necessarily remain parochial.”” Transaction cosis
relating to irades of foreign securities will remain high. These consequences,
although expensive, are far less costly than would be the degradation of the
integrity and efficiency of the capital allocation process in North America
should there be significant reductions in the frequency, quality, or quantity of
financial information available now,

We are in somewhat of a quandary as to the best course to take to achieve
truly meaningful and generally accepted international accounting standards.
Qur suggestions here are less forceful than elsewhere in this report. Much of
the subsequent discussion of this topic consists of questions, not answers. As

LAIMR disagrees with William H. Donaldson, President of the New York Siock
Exchange. He is portrayed in a Wall Street Journal article (Big Board, SEC Fight Over Foreign
Stocks”, May 13, 1992, Page C1} as wanting to *. . . persuade the Securities and Exchange
Commission to soften strict U.S. rules so that foreign companics with looser financial
disclosures can be traded on the Big Board.”



we consider the sel of steps that can be taken to achicve true intemnational
standards, some of the questions that arise are:

B Canasingle set of standards be truly compatible with business methods
and practices that vary from culture to culture around the world?

B Will competilion among national interests cause international standards
to be weak or robust? How many allernative choices should be
allowed? Will smaller, weaker, less developed countrics be able to
influence standards setting? How and to what extent?

B What enforcement mechanisms will work? Is the International
Organization of Securities Commissions (10SCO) the proper body to
bring compulsion to international standards? What about countries that
do not have representation on 10SCO? Are there more appropriate
international bodies? Are non-adopters of international standards to be
shunned in the capital markets of the world?

B Is the IASC as presently constituted the proper body to formulate
international standards? Should the accounting profession, founder of
the IASC, be supplanted by some other group such as national
standard-setting organizations, thus making the 1ASC into a
supranational standards-setting body?

B How should the views of interested parties be presenied 1o the IASC?
Should, for example, each national or regional organization of financial
analysts offer its separate opinion, or should analysts worldwide atiempt
to reach consensus first? The same questions apply to professional
accountants and business enterprises.

B Will intemational standards be accepted by the SEC as an alternative
to U.S. standards? Will they be accepted only for foreign companies
or for all registrants? 1f so, what would be the effect on privately owned
U.S. companies? Would they also have to follow international GAAP?
If not, would a separaie set of national accounting stanidards have to be
maintained solely for them?

There are many other unanswered questions. This report is too brief 10
present all of them or to explore their answers in reasonable depth, especially
because so many of them are interrelated, In any event, financial analysts
expect to play a major role in formulating answers to them. We are pleased
with the extent of our participation on the international scene to date. We plan
not only to maintain our presence but to expand it as we continue to approach
a world of finance that is truly global.

The Role of the FASB.  We do not know what the future role of the FASB
will be, but at the moment it certainly is the paramount standard-setting
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organization affecting financial analysis in the United States, Over the years,
we have had differences with the FASB, and we have discussed many of them
and noted others at various places in this report. Those differences are
inevitable given our single-mindedness in secking information useful in the
workings of investment analysis. They in no way subvert our total support of
the FASB as an institution. We are on the record”> in that regard. All of our
comments herein are made with the hope of improving iis operations,
strengthening its perseverance, and raising its stature.

From time to time, the FASB is criticized, disparaged, assailed, censured,
and even castigated by various individuals and organizations. Much of that
criticism seems to us unwarranted, as we discuss in greater detail below. 1t
seems to be as much an expression of disappointment and disagreement as
anything else. In faci, the more we hear of it, the more convinced we are that
the FASB is accomplishing its mission. It has undertaken some of the most
daunting projects imaginable: financial instruments, post-retirement benefits
of all sorts, and reporting income taxes, among others. 1t has been lobbied
incessantly by, among others, the Business Roundtable, various competing
government agencies, a variety of financial institution trade associations, and
various trade associations and similar groups.

Perhaps the best way lo appreciate the virtue of the FASB is 1o ask who or
what could do a better job. The answer is clear. There is no aliernative
arrangemeni that would come close to achicving the integrity of the FASB and
its ability, by promulgating accounting standards, to compel the propagation
of unpopular truth through financial reports. We, in common with others,
could hope for standards more beneficial to our needs. Unlike many others,
we also encourage the FASB to act more rapidly in considering and issuing
standards, We have consistently opposed changes in the board’s operating
procedures that act to slow its tempo. We hope it is clear that our position is
one of thorough support for the institution, without complete endorsement of
all its actions or conduct.

Need for User Viewpoints In Standard-Setting Bodies. [n 1993, for
only the second time has the Financial Accounting Foundation appointed to
the FASB an individual from the community of professional financial
statement users. By contrast, the IASC includes two financial analysts as
members of the board and several others on its advisory committee and various
steering committees. As a result, financial analysts and investment managers
often have felt alienated from the standard-setting process in the United States,

Bgee Appendix A, specifically letiers dated April 8, 1991, and February 2, 1990.
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“the beggar at the feast™ as one prominent investment manager stated.”* We
observe FASB members being selecied from the ranks of auditing firms,
business enterprises, academia, and government. Every realm, save one,
seems continuously to provide board members.

Most practicing financial analysts are neither accounting technicians nor
theorists. They do not have the time, given the demands of their work and the
limited (but vital) role financial reporting plays in it. Some might say that is
a reason #ot to appoint financial analysts or other financial statement users to
the FASB. But it is more a reason fo make such selections. First, we must
keep in mind that the primary purpose of financial reporting is to provide
information that is valuable to financial statement users; it is not merely (o
produce reports that comply with a variety of arcane requirements nor to
provide employment to accountants. Therefore, those who use financial
staternents should have a major voice in deiermining their form and content.

Second, financial statement users have perhaps the paltriest resources with
which to influence the FASB or otherwise present their views. As we point
out above, we feel badly outspent and outnumbered in the “due process”
activities of the FASB. The effort that we do expend is with the goodwill and
forbearance of generally demanding employers and is dependent on the
willingness of individual investment professionals to relinquish a certain
amount of their personal or leisure time to further the interests of their fellows.

Third, there is compelling need for members of the FASB to provide a point
of view that has been largely absent from the board’s inner workings. We are
well aware that board members are required to sever all ties with their previous
employers and that members are to act in the interests of the board’s entire
constituency, not as representatives of special interest groups. An investment
professional appointed to the board also would have 1o adhere to those terms
and we would expect no less. Still, all persons are the sum of their experiences.
It is baffling to us that the Financial Accounting Foundation allowed the FASB
to carry on year after year missing the background and experience of at least
one financial statement user. We cannot imagine anything more pertinent or
germane to the board as it strives to fulfill its mission and put into practice the
tenets of its conceptual framework.

Recent Criticism of the FASB.  The issuance in late 1987 by the FASB
of three major pronouncements marked the escalation of previously scatered

HGemld 1. White, “The Coming Deregulation of Accounting Principles,” Firancial
Reporting and Standard Seiting, Gary John Previts, Ed. (New York: American Institute of
Cenified Public Accountanis) 1991, p. 35,
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protests into more serious dissention. “FASB bashing” became close to sport
in some quarters. We agree with some of the opposition, but we differ with
the passion (and sometimes vitriol) with which a good deal of it has been
expressed. In mosl cases, we believe that the FASB’s critics either are
mistaken or are acting in a self-interested manner. Some of the criticisms we
have heard, and our answers to them are summarized in the list that follows.

W Financial reports have become difficult to understand. We agree, but
for quite different reasons. First, business activity has become more complex.
Second, the FASB has had the fortitude to confront difficult problems that are
not amenable to simplistic answers. We do not expect the financial affairs of
multifarious economic organisms to be reducible to a few simple
comprehensive easy-to-read numbers. It just is not possible.

However, we could and do expect a better effort on the part of enterprises
issuing financial reports to make their affairs more understandable to the
investment analysts and advisors who simply are unable to devole major
portions of their time to digesting imposing new pronouncements on abstruse
accounting topics. Financial reporis have taken on the appearance of
compliance documents rather than communication tools. There is no need fos
that. Some investment analysts have even begun to question whether thos¢
who prepare financial reports understand the purpose for which a particula:
standard was issued. The FASB and the SEC set minimum disclosuri
requirements. There is no proscription on relating more or explaining tha
which is disclosed. We should not blame the FASB because it cannot mandate
a willingness on the part of managements (o decipher and illuminate thei
affairs.

B The FASB has issued too many standards too quickly. The FASLE
commenced operations in 1973, 20 years before this report was completed. b
that interval, it has issued 117 standards and substantially fewer interpretations
The rate is fewer than six standards per year. But the rate of issuance of majo
new standards with broad impact across all industries is between one and twi
a year. The vast majority of the FASB's new slandards are modifications o
existing pronouncements, adoption as standards of existing AICPA literature
or matters that affect specific industries, including not-for-profit enterprise!
Not only that, the standards themselves are relatively brief. Most of the bul
is supplied by the included illustrations and practice guides requested b
financial statement preparers and their auditors.

Nor can the pace at which major new broad-based standards are issued b
characterized as swift. In our comments on transition, we remark on th
number of years it takes before a new standard is fully implemented. 1
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addition, many new standards take numerous years from the time they are
placed on the FASB's agenda until a final standard is approved by a minimum
3-2 vote, the so-called “super majority.” The change a few years ago from a
simple majority vote for approval of a new standard to the “super majority™
was designed to slow further the board’s already glacial pace.

Complaints about too many standards, standards adopted 100 quickly, or
too-complex standards seem to be mistaken but may actually be misdirected.
Major new standards are infrequent and, shorn of accompanying material,
relatively succinct. However, the numbers and size of the new reading material
emanating from the FASB is overwhelming. Most of it pertains to matiers in
progress, Perhaps if the process were to be speeded up, fewer interim reports
of various sorts would be produced, thus lessening the seemingly endless
pondering by all of unfinished agenda matters.

M The FASB is 100 theoretical. This argument is heard frequently but
simply is not true. In fact, the FASB in many cases has issved standards that
are obviously contrary to good accounting theory. For example:

1. FAS 87 and FAS 106 on employers” accounting for pensions and other
postretirement benefits, respectively, contain a variety of procedures and
choices that allow smoothing of transition balances, actuarial and experience
gains and losses, and the cost or benefit of plan amendments over many
accounting periods, thus smoothing the annual pension costs in ways
unsupported bg accounting theory,

2. FAS 157 specifies accounting for restructured debt using methods that
ignore the time value of money. FAS 15 directly conflicts with Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 21, “Interest on Receivables and Payables.”
One of its effects was to allow financial institutions in the U.S. two different
accounting results for optional alternative settlements of the Mexican debt,
even though the alternatives were identical in substance.

3. FAS 52 provides that assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currency,
where the local currency is the functional currency, shall be translated at the
exchange rate at the balance sheet date. The result is that real assets (property,
inventories, eic.) are treated as if they are money. To prevent obviously absurd
resulis, FAS 52 prohibits application of that method to currencies of highly
inﬂationary26 economies.

BEAS 15 was superseded by the issuance in 1993 of FAS 114, but the example of FAS
L5 still is instructive. First is the remarkably long time it took for the FASB 1o replace a seriously
deficient standard. Second, we view FAS | I4 as an improvement over FAS 15, but we believe
it too has aspects that are incongruent with sound accounting theory.

If'I~Iighly inflationary is defined as a rate of general inflation exceeding 100 percent for the
three-year period ending on the balance sheet date.,
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In our opinion, a more accurale accusation would be that the FASB is not
sufficiently theoretical in its pronouncements. We often are disappointed by
the issuance of a standard that incorporates one or more flagrant departures
from theory seemingly to make it more palatable to other members of the
business community, Each departure from theory makes the data contained
in financial statements less interpretable or comprehendible only with
additional analytic effort.

It is quite possible that those who denounce the FASB for being too
theoretical are in actuality complaining less about the standards issued than
about the succession of documents that antedate issuance of a standard.
Commentators are forced by discussion memoranda, invitations to comment,
exposure drafts and the like, to provide conceptually valid support for the
positions they take. Respondents therefore are required 1o be more than
familiar with the FASB's conceptual framework project as well as with the
greater body of “common law™ accounting and economic theory. In addition,
they are called upon to be up-to-date on new and seminal conceptual and
empirical work, not only in accounting but also in finance and economics.
Although their grievances are filed with the FASB, they might be more
accurately directed to those persons who are pushing back the frontiers of
knowledge.

B The cost of applying new standards is excessive. For something 10 be
excessive, it must exceed the right, proper, or correct amount. Yet there is no
reference amount of cost that one can characterize or measure out as being
correct. In short, excessiveness is a value judgment. Assertions that it exisis
do not make it true,

In particular, it is the providers of financial statements from whom the claim
of excessive cost is heard. We can respond by asserting that the cost to them,
high as it may seem, is still less than the benefit to financial statement users of
(1) minimizing the cost of providing the data by having the firm do it once and
provide it to multitudes of users who otherwise would individually have to
replicate the firm's effort; (2) having the firm as the source of information,
thus obviating the need for analysts to scavenge for less reliable data from
secondary sources; and (3) making available an additional source of
information that confirms or denies other sources. One of the charges to the
FASB in its mission statement is “to promulgate standards only when the
expected benefits exceed the perceived costs.” We wish them well in trying
to implement a notion for which there is a paucity of guidance in the literature
of welfare economics. We hope they will not succumb to judging the issue
based on the quantity and loudness of the voices they hear.
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Finally, we need to consider who bears the cost of providing the information
that appears in financial reports, In one very real sense, there is no added
compliance cost to financial stalement preparers. Their salaries remain
unchanged and may even be enhanced as the scope of their responsibilities is
enlarged. The costs are paid out of general corporate funds and, ultimately,
are borne by the firm’s investors, the users of financial statements. The cost
of information is one of the prices we pay for efficient financial markets. But
the benefit of rational capital allocation can be far in excess of the relatively
small amounts paid to make financial markets efficient. Investors are the ones
who suffer both the cost and reap the benefits of improved financial reports.
We would hope that company managers, who are their agents, should not
confuse their own personal interests with those of their principals.

B The FASB is inimical 10 the interests of financial statement preparers.
This is a variation on the criticisms already discussed above. It can be
addressed briefly. We have seen much conceried action of the part of financial
stalement preparers, in particular the Business Roundtable, to attempt 1o stifle
the work of the FASB. We view these actions with much trepidation, our
concem being that the size of the forces deployed by the critics of FASB might
be construed as measuring the justness of their cause.

The cause needs to be examined on its own merits. The discussion of
specific complaints immediately above indicates that they have little or no
substance. We believe that any declaration to the effect that the FASB does
not serve the interests of financial statement preparers is not only wrong, it is
self-serving. First, some financial analysts hold the exact opposite view; they
feel that the FASB favors preparers. We also find that view self-serving. The
fact is that the FASB is not to serve any specific constituent group. It is to
serve cqually and even-handedly everyone with an interest in financial
reporting. That is why the members of the board must sever all ties with their
previous employers. As long as everyone, financial analysis included, believes
that their interests could be better served, the FASB must be doing a good job
of balancing competing interests for the good of the whole.

B Does the FASB follow due process? Some commentators have taken
the FASB 1o iask for not following due process. Their opinion seems to be
that the FASB should be following the popular view as expressed by the
majority of the comments directed to it. In that view, the setting of accounting
standards is almost entirely a political process in which lobbying is seen as a
productive activity. Our view is quite to the contrary.

First, we believe that the politicization of accounting should be kept to a
minimum. It should not be used 1o serve special interests. The FASB needs
information from its various constituencies that will aid it in secing that
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important information is provided to financial statement users without causing
undue turmoil on the part of preparers. Lobbying is an extreme form of
information transminal that has negligible legitimacy in the standard-setting
process. After all, we are speaking of the measurement of economic
phenomena; no matter how fine the sentiments expressed, the laws of
economics defy change.

Second, we are convinced that, if anything, the FASB is too concerned with
due process and sunshine. In many cases, the system has acted to slow almost
to a halt the pace at which new standards are issued, The stages scem
excruciatingly slow on occasion. Now the FASB has gone to extended
comment periods on 1wo recent discussion memoranda.”’ We also suggest
that the prohibition on a majority of the board members meeting in privale or
without advance public notice is unnecessary. In fact, we believe that the
quality and quantity of the board’s work could improve if some of it at least
were sheltered from continual scrutiny.

*Consolidation Policies and Procedures,” issued September 10, 1991, with a comment
deadlinc of July 5, 1992; and “New Basis Accounting,” issued December 18, 1991, with a
comment deadline of July 15, 1992,



SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT POSITIONS
AND GUIDE TO FUTURE ACTIONS

Much of this report relates to the current state of the art and implications for
future developments in financial reporting, Rightfully, so do most of the
positions stated in this section. Before presenting them, however, we must
note that they all build on positions taken by AIMR in the past. For many
years, the AIMR's Corporate Information Committee, SEC Liaison
Committee, and Financial Accounting Policy Committee (FAPC) have spoken
often and forthrightly in presenting our views and those of our predecessor
organizations, the Financial Analysts Federation and the Institute of Chartered
Financial Analysts,

The FAPC “maintains contact with both private and public sector
accounting groups that establish accounting standards 10 ensure the needs of
investors are communicaled and included as standards are promulgated.” Iis
primary activity is to react to initiatives from those bodies. The extent of that
activity can be noted from Appendix A, a list of the letters of comment
produced and sent by the FAPC over a five-year period ended April 16, 1993,
In addition to its comment letters, the FAPC issues broad posilion papers on
financial reporting and accounting matters. It also has sponsored research on
accounting matters, the most recent being quarterly segment reporting. 1t was
commissioned by AIMR to write this report.

The SEC Liaison Commiitee is the subcommittee of the FAPC that takes
responsibility for AIMR relations with the SEC. Appendix B contains a list
of that commitiee’s communications with the SEC between February 2, 1989,
and April 10, 1991. The major work of the Corporate Information Committee
is to evaluate the quality of financial reporting and 1o designate awards 1o firms
that excel in meeting their reporting obligations. Each year, the committee
publishes a lengthy report of its findings together with a description of its
activities and criteria for selection. Copies of the report are avaifable from
AIMR.'

We expect the positions set forth below to build on the precedents of the
past. That does not prevent them from breaking new ground, but they do not
iniroduce significant inconsistencies with previous AIMR positions. To the

"The most recent report is 1992-93, although hmited quantities from some previous years
also arc available, Each report is free to AIMR members upon request and may be purchased
by others—subject to availability—for $50. To order, please comact the AIMR Publications
Sales Department, P.O, Box 7947, Charlonesville, Virginia 22906; iclephone 804/980-3647;
fax 804/977-0350.
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extent that they do establish new slances, it is largely the result of the changing
world that we describe earlier in this report.

Strive for a World-Wide Acceptable GAAP, including Disclosure
Standards

This report discusses at some length the rapid pace of financial market
globalization. One of the main impediments to the efficient movement of
capital 1o the places it is best employed is a lack of information that is
comparable in cither quantity or quality. We support enthusiastically the
cfforts of the International Accounting Standards Committee, the International
Organization of Securities Commissions and others 1o remove or at least
reduce that hindrance,

Our enthusiasm is expressed with an uneguivocal caution. We will not
consent to a lowering of the standards of disclosure that we currently possess.
Investment professionals have been integral constituents in establishing the
disclosure system currently in effect. Qur criticisms of it notwithstanding,
there is none better in the world. Some persons in authority have suggested
that it is more important for the United States to conform 1o a global set of
disclosure standards than it is to maintain the level of disclosure that now
prevails in the United States. We disagree. Our reasons are discussed in detail
elsewhere in this report.

Set Financial information in its Business Context

For financial analysts to make sound judgments and draw rational
conclusions, they must judge the performance of individual business
enterprises. Performance appraisal is largely a matter of evaluating how well
the management of an enterprise has achieved its goals. Businesses are for the
most part operated according to plans, either explicit or implicit. Investment
professionals aspire to allocate capital to those plans that seem most likely 1o
succeed. To do so, they need information of two types.

First, management should explicitly describe its strategies, plans, and
expectations. Much of this must come in the form of namative descriptive
material. Dollar amounts of budgeted and other anticipaled amounts are useful
for expressing plans in more concrete terms. Goals for growth rates in revenues,
market share, and the like should be siated. Analysts need anticipated amounts
of key ratios, such as the return on total invested capital or on equity, the ratio
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of debt to equity, etc. Factors that are expected to affect those ratios—such as
major financing or capital spending plans—should be divulged.

Second, results should be reported in a manner that is consistent with the
organization and management of the firm. Different entities, even within the
same industry, may organize their operations in dissimilar ways. Financial
analysts need information in formats that allow them to compare those firms
both against each other and against the firms’ own business plans. The task
of devising accounting and disclosure standards to mandate dissemination of
information in the fashion we advocate is perhaps not totally surmountable.
Thus we hope business enierprises themselves will act with goodwill and in
their own interests to explain themselves and their operations in “user friendly”
waiys even when il is not required.

The Role of Current Values in Financial Reports

A great controversy has arisen recently over mark-to-market accounting.
Feelings are strong both in favor of it and against it, with a spectrum of opinion
in between. Financial analysts also have diverse views, eyen though they are
not as extreme as others may be. Few financial analysts are opposed 1o the
disclosure of current values, and most would welcome it. On the other hand,
most analysts at this time are not prepared to abandon the historic-cost-based
but eclectic system of valuation used in accounting today. In fact, many
financial analysts are going to require much persuasion before they will be
willing to accept expansion of the role of current value in financial statements
themselves.

Much of the unwillingness of financial analysts to accept immediately a
greater use of market values in financial statements stems from a perceived
need for the utmost reliability in the numbers provided to them. They feel that
cven though historic costs are subject to certain manipulation, the situation
could be worse with respect to numbers that are not verifiable by reference to
atransaction in which the enterprise participated. Some analysts are concemed
also about partial measures, They feel, forexample, that marking the securities
porifolio and (perhaps) other assets of a bank 1o market is misleading if that
institution’s liabilities are not revalued also. Their concem is the one expressed
in the preceding section, that the financial report on the business will not reflect
the manner in which it is managed.

The process of learning 1o understand and use new and unfamiliar financial
information is longer and more arduous than one might expeci. In Financial
Accounting Standard No. 33 (FAS 33), we were provided with information
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that, although imprecise, was a godsend to those financial analysts who
understood it and were able to use it in their work. Unfortunately, the five-year
experiment by the Financial Accounting Standards Boards (FASB) came to an
end before more than a modicum of financial analysts were able to take the
necessary time from the press of their day-to-day duties 10 study and grasp the
significance of inflation-adjusted data. That experience also was undermined
by the incessant claims of individual business enterprises that the disclosures
required by FAS 33 were worthless and by the rapid decline in the rate of
inflation during that five-year period.

Our position is that we would like current value reporting to be given a
chance.” We need to be able to assess the extent to which volatility really
exists, even though the financial statements themselves may, as a political
matier, need to be shielded from it. As long as current values are not seen,
financial analysts cannoi use them. The vehicle of disclosure, however, should
be used so as to offer financial analysts the opportunity to use current values.
They should not be coerced into it by a sudden and unilateral removal from
financial statements of the historic costs and other amounts which are familiar
and useful to so many analysts.

Recognize Ali Executory Contracts

We all have siruggled to understand the immense body of detailed rules that
govem accounting for leases. Sometimes it seems as if the only persons having
sufficient motivation to study their particulars are those who need to write lease
contracts that produce desired outcomes. We know that the criteria for
distinguishing between capital lease and operating lease set forth in Financial
Accounting Standard No. 13 and its supplementis are arbitrary and their
application often is willfully capricious. Sometimes it seems as if the
opportunities to manipulate the rules arc in direct proportion to their
copiousness.

We believe the rules could be simplified. First, we would drop the corrent
dichotomy between accounting standards for leases and those for other
executory contracts, We would have them treated the same way, Second, we
believe that financial reporting would be improved considerably if all
executory contracts of more than one year duration were capilalized. That
would result in the recognition of all receivables and payables at the present
value of future legally enforceable commitments to exchange cash in the

*To this end, a subcommittee of the FAPC is prepanng a far-reaching study of opinions of
AIMR members on the mark-to-market issue.
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future. Our reasoning is set forth earlier in this report.

Develop Standards for Reporting Comprehensive income

Financial analysts continue to place heavy emphasis in their work on the
income statement. It produces the numerator of eamnings per share calculations
and the denominator of the price-to-earnings ratio, two stalwart numbers in the
investment world. Analysts also recognize that earnings comprises a multitude
of components of varying quality: some are repetitive, others are nol; some are
operating items, others are not; some are the product of accounting rituals,
others are not; some represent economic events of the current period, others
do not. Much effort is required of analysis to locate and evaluate all of the
income statement items that can have a bearing on their forecasts of the future
and the valuation of the firm,

Much of this report is devoted to marshalling evidence and arguments to
support our position that the FASB needs to move comprehensive income from
concept to application. We believe the arguments are strong and hope 1o see
progress in this maltter in the not-too-distant future,

Provide Frequent and Detalled Financiai Reports

Interim financial reporting requirements in the United States have been the
subject of much unjust criticism, They have been blamed for everything from
“short termism” to a degradation in U.S. competitiveness. Not only are those
charges without merit, they also fail 1o credit interim reporting for its vital role
in keeping investors informed, diminishing opportunities for trading on
privileged information, and maintaining peak efficiency of the financial
markets. We believe we present in this report and elsewhere” valid reasons to
continue mandated quarterly financial reporting,

One of the primary deficiencies in contemporary financial reports is the
minuscule amount of disaggregated data. In annual reports, that which is
provided usually is skimpy, and many firms have interpreted the provisions of
Financial Accounting Standard No. 14 so as to report fewer segments than an
analyst might expect, and scgments sometimes are defined by the firm in
peculiar ways. Not only are we in urgent need of new definitions and
disclosure requirements to emanate from the FASB project on disaggregation,
we also need segment reporting extended to interim reports. Analysis of a

] :
“Korn, ap. cit,
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complex enterprise with diverse operations is futile in the absence of
significant quantities of disaggregated financial data.

Cost/Benefit Analysis from a User Viewpoint

The benefiis of producing financial statement information should exceed
the cost of producing it. That is an axiom often cited by financial statement
preparers in opposing a proposed change in financial reporting practice. We
not only do not object to that precept, we support it strongly. Our objection is
to how it is portrayed by others.

We believe it is the owners of business firms who both reap the benefits and
bear the costs of improvements in accounting and disclosure standards. The
financial managers of business firms act simply as agents of the owners. In
that regard, it is the current and potential shareholders and their financial
advisors who should best be able 1o advise standard-setting and regulatory
bodies as to the proper balance of costs and benefits associated with their
proposals.

This position is corollary to the overall stance of AIMR, all other investors,
and other users of financial statements. Financial statements are prepared and

disseminated 1o provide the information that free financial markeis need to
operate. Users are the customers to be served. They alsa pay for the benefits
they receive, albeit indirectly. Sometimes financial statement users are
accused of being “free riders,” receiving all of the benefits of financial
reporting and paying none of the costs. The illogic and untruth of th:!l
statement must be apparent to anyone who makes the effort to analyze it
thoughtfully. If not, then this report has failed to meet one of its goals.



CONCLUSIONS

This report is the latest in a series of occasional position papers prepared by
the Financial Accounting Policy Committee of AIMR. It is the first of those
to underga due process involving the AIMR Board of Governors and all of
AIMR’s constituent socielies. It sets forth the position of investment advisors
and financial analysts on the universe of financial reporting as it affects
analysis today and into the next century. It explains in much detail the function
of financial analysis, its sources and uses of information in general and in
financial reports in particular. It speaks to trends that are expected to change
practices both in analysis and accounting during the next decade or more. It
addresses many issues of current importance and controversy. Some of its
overall conclusions are mentioned below.

The interaction of financial analysis and financial reporting is one that
increases enormously the level of efficiency in the capital markets. One of the
major tenets of a free-enterprise economic sysiem is that information s
disseminated completely and fairly to all market participants. That is, of
course, an ideal that in reality must be considered as an unattainable poal
against which to measure actual achievement. Placed in that context, our
positions in this report are eminently supportable despite the fact that in many
cases they call for substantial expansion of the quantity and quality of financial
information now being reported.

The role of the attest function receives somewhat less attention herein. We
have observed much turmoil in the world of public accounting and are hard
put to prognosticate its future course. We conlinue 10 consider attestation
necessary Lo the credibility of financial reports but have suggestions as to how
it can be made more effective and efficient. We suggest a longer view of the
process at present with a shift of emphasis from transaction-based to
systems-based auditing. The role of the external auditor might subtly shift
from aitestation to “reliability enhancement.”

A major portent for changing the future of financial reporting is the fact that
capital markets now are global. That has led to both conflict and promise, The
downside is the view of certain prominent market officials that the current high
level of accounting and disclosure standards that we enjoy in the United States
be relaxed so that more foreign securities can be traded in U.S. markets. AIMR
will continue to combat that movement with all of its resources.! The good
news is that there are accelerating attempts to intemationalize accounting

ISee Appendix B for a list of comment letters from AIMR's SEC Liaison Committee o
the SEC. Several of the letters deal with intemational security registration issuves.
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standards by the Iniernational Accounting Standards Committee together with
an increased interest on the part of national standards-setting bodies to support
that process,

Finally, we note the reasons why financial analysts and other financial
statement users sometimes are viewed as outsiders or even nonparticipants in
the standard-selting process. Financial reporting is not the focus or total raison
d’eire of their employment. Unlike accounting professionals, financial
analysts participate as volunteers and often io the detriment rather than
enhancement of their professional development and standing. More
importantly, financial analysts have infrequent opportunities to sit in the seats
of decision-making power. Their comments are sought but sometimes either
not heard or heeded. The view of them as outsiders stems less from their
unwillingness or inability 10 participate than from their exclusion from the
process. The FASB has had seven members throughout the 20 years of its
existence, a tolal of 140 man-years. Five of those years (3.76 percent) were
contnbuted by a financial analyst. Only as the board enters its third decade
has a second practicing analyst been appoinied as a member. Financial
stutement users need much more of a direct voice in the process than they have
been given in the past.

Throughout the report, we make many other recommendations and establish
positions on a variety of issues. Those matters are set forth for two purposes,
First, they announce to the rest of the world our thoughis on issues of mutual
importance to investment professionals and other constituents in the world of
financial reporting. Second, they provide an opportunity for AIMR members
to form their individual thoughts about the implications of financial reporting
and its potential effect on their work in the 1990s and beyond.



APPENDIX A
FAPC COMMENT LETTERS,
APRIL 8, 1988, through APRIL 6, 1993
Date Recipient Subject Matier
April_ B, 1988 FASB Proposed FAS “Disclosure About
(Revised Financial Instruments™
May 24, 1988)
May 10, 1988 FASB Proposed FAS “Disclosure About
Financial Instruments™
July 15, 1988 FASB Proposed Technical Bulletin, “Definition
of a Right of Set Off”
lune 8, 1989 SEC “Statement of Financial Analysts

August 7, 1989

Aupgust 31, 1989
September 29, 1989

Sepiember 29, 1989

September 29, 1989

September 29, 1989

Oclober 5, 1989

(Commissioner
Ruder)

FASB

SEC

SEC

FASB

TASC

FASB

IASC

chcmlion on Summary Reporting™ (a
Jjoint report of the FAPC and the SEC
Liaison Commitce)

Proposed FAS “Employers’ Accounting
for Post-Retirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions™

Report to the FAPC of its subcommittee
on guarterly segment reporting
Proposed rules for increased auditor
involvement with quarterly information

Proposed FAS *Disclosure of
Information About Financial Instruments
with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk and
Financial Instruments with
Concentrations of Credit Risk”

E33—Proposed **Accounting for Taxes
on Income”

Proposed FAS “Statement of Cash
Flows—Net Reporting of Centain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments and
Rechassification of Cash Flows from
Hedging Transactions™

E32—Proposed “Comparability of
Financial Statements”™
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Dare Recipient Subject Matter
December 28, 1989 1ASC E34—Proposed “Disclosures in the
Financial Statements of Banks and
Similar Financial Insttutions”
February 8. 1990 Financial Recommendations of the Financial
Accounting Accounting Foundation Structure
Foundation Committee on FASB voting procedures
May 7, 1990 FASB Restructuring country debt exposure;
accounting and disclosure issues
May 7, 1990 IASC E35—Proposed “Financial Reporting of
Interests in Joint Ventures™
June 15, 1990 IASC IASC Statement of Principles, “Financial
Instruments™
July 25, 1990 Accounting Proposed Statement of Position,
Standards “Reporting by Financial Instilutions of
Executive Debt Securities Held as Assets™
Committee of
the AICPA
July 25, 1990 IASC IASC Sttement of Principles. “Cash
Flow Staternents™
Octaber 31, 1990 SEC Various accounting and disclosure issues
{Comsnissioner
Lochner)
January 16, 1991 FASB Discussion memorandum related 10
“Distinguishing between Liability and
Equity Instruments and Accounting for
Instruments with Characteristics of Both”
April 8, 1991 Financial Writien comments on matters relating 1o
Accounting the assessment of the FASB and ns
Federation mission.
Oversight
Board, (Michael
Cook, Chairman)
April 30, 1991 FASB Proposed FAS “Disclosures about

Market Value of Financial Instruments™
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Date

Recipiemt

Subject Matter
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Date

Recipient

Subject Matter

May 13, 1991

June 4, 1991

July 16, 1991

September 6, 1991

November 7, 1991
November 8, 1991

January 20, 1992
Aprl 1, 1992

June 25, 1992

June 25, 1992

July 30, 1992

July 30, 1992
August 28, 1992

August 28, 1992

SEC

FASRB

FASB

FASB

IASC
IASC

IASC
IASC

FASB

FASE

FASH

IASC
FASB

FASE

Request for public comment of the
acceptability in financial statements of an
accounting standard permitting the retumn
of a nonaccrual loan 1o accrual status
after a panial charge-off

Discussion memorandum related to
“Present Value-Based Measurements in
Accounting”

Discussion memorandum related to
*Accounting for the Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets and Identifiable
Intangibles™

Proposed FAS *Accounting for Income
Taxes”

E38—Proposed “Inventories”

E39—Proposed “Capitalization of
Borrowing Costs™

E36—Proposed “Cash Flow Statements™

E37—Proposed “Research &
Development Activities”

Proposed FAS “Reporting by Defined
Benefit Pension Plans of Investment
Contracis™

Proposed FAS *“Accounting and
Reporting for Reinsurance of
Short-Duration and Long-Duration
Contracts”

Discussion memorandum related to
“Recognition and Meusurement of
Financial Instruments”

E40—Proposed “Financial Instruments”

Proposed FAS “Recision of FASB
Statement No. 32 and Technical
Corrections™

Proposed FAS "Employers’ Accounting
for Postemployment Benefits”

September 16, 1592
October 2, 1992
October 15, 1992
Ociober 19, 1992
December 9, 1992
December 9, 1992

December 18, 1992
January 15, 1993

January 15, 1993

January 15, 1993

March 22, 1993

April 2, 1993

April 6, 1993

FASB

1ASC

FASB

FASB

FASB

IASC

IASC
FASB

IASC

1ASC

1ASC

FASB

FASB

Discussion memorandum related to
“Consolidation Policy and Procedures”
E43—Proposed “Propenty, Plani and
Equipment”

Discussion memorandum related to
“New Basis of Accounting”

Proposed FAS “Accounting by Creditors
for Impairment of a Loan”

Proposed FAS “Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities”

E45—Proposed “Business Combination:
E41—Proposed “Revenue Recognition™
Proposed FAS “Applicability of GAAP
to Mutual Life Insurance Enterprises”

E44—Proposed “Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates”

E46—Proposed “Extraordinary ltems,
Fundamental Errors and Changes in
Accounting Policies”

E47—Proposed “Retirement Benefit
Costs”

Clarification lener regarding proposed
FAS “Accounting by Creditors for
Impairment of a Loan”

Project on accounting for stock options
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APPENDIX B
OTHER COMMITTEE COMMENT LETTERS,
FEBRUARY 2, 1989, through APRIL 10, 1993

Recipient Sender

Subject Matter

February 2, 1989

March 20, 1989

April 19, 1989

June 30, 1989

September 8, 1989

September 29, 1989

November 6, 1986

June 29, 1990

SEC SEC Liaison
Commiltee
SEC SEC Liaison
Committee
SEC SEC Liaison
Committee
SEC SEC Liaison
Commiltee
SEC SEC Liaison
Committce
SEC SEC Liaison
Commiittee
SEC SEC Liaison
Committee
SEC SEC Liaison
Commiltee

Release No. 34-26350, File No.
SR-NYSE-88-40, “Self-Regulatory
Organization,” proposed rule change
by New York Stock Exchange, Inc.,
relating to the meaning,
administration or enforcement of Rule
19¢4

Release No. 33-6806, File No.
§7-23-88, “Resales of Restricted
Securities,” changes to method of
determining holding period of
restricied securities under Rules 144
and 145

Release No. 33-6821, File No.
§7-6-89, “Securities Uniformity,
Annual Conference on Uniformity of
Secunties Law.”

File No. §7-7-89, regulatory
flexibility agenda and rules scheduled
for review

Release No. 33-6839, File No.
$7-23-88, “Resale of Restricted
Securities,” Intemational Series 104,
changes to method of determining
holding period of restricted securities
under Rules 144 and 145

Proposed rules for increased auditor
involvement with quarterly
information

Proposed rules for multijurisdictional
disclosure

File No. §7-6-90, comments on
anticipated rulemaking actions
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Date Recipient  Sender Subject Matter
October 1, 1990 SEC SEC Liaison  Comments regarding multinational
Committee  tender and exchange offers
December 14, 1990  SEC SEC Liaison  Proposed rules for multijurisdictional
Committee  disclosure (revised)
April 10, 1991 SEC SEC Liaison  Release No. 33-6883, File No.
Committee  §7-4-91, “Securities Uniformity,
Annual Conference on Uniformity of
Secunties Laws™
May 10, 1991 Accounting AIMR Proposed statement of position on

Standards Committee
Executive on Software
Committee Industry
of AICPA  Financial
Reporting
Practices

software revenue recognition
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